# HEALTH SERVICE EXECUTIVE

and

[Insert Supplier Name Here]

# STANDARD TERMS FOR INFORMATION COMMUNICATIONS TECHNOLOGY SUPPLIES AND SERVICES

January 2014 Version 1.2

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART	ONE - GENERIC CONTRACT CLAUSES	
1	Interpretation	
2	Definitions	3
3	Term	9
4	Acceptance of the Terms of the Contract	10
5	Provision of the Solution	10
6	Joint and Several Liability	11
7	Price	11
8	Payments	12
9	Debts to the Customer	
10	VAT	
11	Legal Requirements	
12	Early Warning	
13	Step In Rights	
14	Programme	
15	Suspension	
16	Disaster Recovery	
17	Provision of Information.	
18	Customer Data	
19	Intellectual Property Rights	
20	Intellectual Property Rights Indemnity	
21	Confidential Information	
22	Customer Policies	
23	Data Protection and Data Security	
24	Access to Premises.	
25	Termination	
26	Termination Assistance	
27	Effects of Expiry and Termination	
28	Compensation on Termination.	
29	Indemnity	
30	Limitation of Liability	
31	Conduct of Claims Subject to Contractors Indemnities	
32	Insurance	
33	Fraud	
34	Quality Standards	
35	Acceptance Procedures	
36	Notices and Communications	
37	Language	
38	Survival of Clauses	
39	Transfer and Sub-Contracting.	
40	Force Majeure	
41	Effect of Suspension of Services for Force Majeure	
42	No Solicitation	
43	Warranties and Representations	
43	Information and Audit	
44		
45	Corrupt Gifts and Payments	
46 47	No Partnership and No Agency	
	Announcements and Publicity	
48	Costs and Expenses	
49	Entire Agreement	
50	Change Control	
51	Validity	27

52	Waiver	
53	Further Assurance	
54	Remedies	
55	Supremacy of Agreement Over Schedules	
56	Counterparts	
57	Extent of Liability	
58	Governing Law and Jurisdiction	
59	Social Responsibility	.40
	TWO - CONFIDENTIALITY	
PART	THREE - SERVICES CONTRACT CLAUSES	
61	Performance of Services	
62	Provision of Services	
63	Service Levels and Service Credits	
64	Professional Services	
65	Technical Support and Maintenance Services	
<b>PART</b>	FOUR - SUPPLIES CONTRACT CLAUSES	.45
66	Delivery of Supplies	.45
67	Partial Delivery	.45
68	Risk and Title	.46
69	Timing	.46
70	Packing, Marking and Documentation	
71	Returns	
72	Quality of Supplies	
73	Defective Supplies	
74	Supply of Documents	
75	Inspection and Samples	
76	After Sales Service.	
PART	FIVE - SOFTWARE.	
77	Customer Software	
78	Contractor Software	
79	Commissioned Software	
80	Configured Software	
81	Software Specification Development	
82	General Provisions Applicable to both Software and Hardware	
_	SIX - CONTRACT MANAGEMENT CLAUSES	
83	Project Management and Service Delivery	
84	Lot Letting Procedure	
85	Project Management	
86	Management of Issues and Risks	
87	Status Reporting.	
88	Performance Monitoring	
89	Representatives and Contract Management Review	
90	Contractor's People	
	SEVEN - DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE	63
91	Amicable Dispute Settlement	
92	Mediation	
93	Arbitration	
93 94	Jurisdiction	
94 95	Agent for Service	
	Obligations to continue during a Dispute	
96		
97	Confidentiality	.00
<b>SCHE</b>	DULE 1	60
DEUL	IREMENTS AND SPECIFICATIONS	.00
MLQU	TREMENTO LIND OF ECHTICATIONS	.00

<b>SCHEDULE 2</b>	69
PAYMENT SCHEDULE	69
SCHEDULE 3	70
SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT	70
SCHEDULE 4	71
CONTRACTORS TENDER	
SCHEDULE 5	72
CHANGE CONTROL PROCEDURES	72
SCHEDULE 6	75
TIMETABLE	
SCHEDULE 7	76
LOT AGREEMENT	76
SCHEDULE 8	79
ACCEPTANCE PROCEDURES	79
SCHEDULE 9	80
TERMINATION ASSISTANCE	80

This Agreement is made on the [ ● ] day of 20[ ● ] between

- 1. [Company Name] (Registered Company Number ) of [Registered Company Address] ("the Contractor"); and
- 2. [The Health Service Executive] of [Registered Address] (including its successors and assigns) ("the Customer").

#### **RECITALS**

#### WHEREAS:

- 1. The Customer has purchased [X] e.g. certain software products from the Contractor for which the Contractor has granted the Customer a software licence;
- 2. The Customer requires the provision of [Y] e.g. Support Services;
- 3. The Customer has requested the Contractor to provide [Z] e.g. Software maintenance; as set out in this Agreement.

#### **NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED** that:

A. The Contractor will provide [X, Y or Z] e.g. the Support Services and software maintenance as specified hereunder to the Customer; in consideration of which the Customer shall make certain payments to the Contractor.

#### **PART ONE**

## GENERIC CONTRACT CLAUSES

This Part One applies to all procurements.

# 1. **Interpretation**

- 1.1 The Agreement is separated into the following parts:
  - (a) Generic Clauses (Part One) this part applies to the procurement of both Services and Supplies;
  - (b) Confidentiality Agreement Clauses (Part Two) this part applies to the treatment of information obtained during the procurement of both Services and Supplies;
  - (c) Services Contract Clauses (Part Three) this part applies only if the Customer is procuring Services;
  - (d) Supplies Contract Clauses (Part Four) this part applies only if the Customer is procuring Supplies;
  - (e) Software and Hardware (Part Five) this part applies to the procurement of Software and/or Hardware as part of the provision of the Services and/or Supplies, (as appropriate);
  - (f) Contract Management Clauses (Part Six) this part applies to engagements that which require formal contract management and review over the Term in order to satisfy the Requirements and Specifications;

- (g) Dispute Resolution Procedure (Part Seven) this part applies to the procurement of both Services and Supplies.
- 1.2 Headings and sub-headings are for ease of reference only and do not affect the construction of the Agreement.
- 1.3 References to Clauses are references to Clauses of the Agreement.
- 1.4 In this Agreement:
  - (a) references to Contractor, where the context requires, shall include its permitted subcontractors and agents;
  - (b) references to a "**person**" shall be construed so as to include any individual, firm, company, government, state or agency of a state, local authority or government body or any joint venture, association or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality);
  - (c) words in the singular include the plural and the other way around;
  - (d) references to one gender includes all genders;
  - (e) any reference to an enactment or statutory provision is a reference to it as it may have been, or may from time to time be amended, modified, consolidated or re-enacted;
  - (f) references to a "**company**" shall be construed so as to include any company, corporation or other body corporate, wherever and however incorporated or established:
  - (g) references to times are to times in Ireland; and
  - (h) references to a "month" shall mean a calendar month.
- 1.5 The Schedules comprise Schedules to this Agreement and form part of this Agreement.
- 1.6 References to indemnifying any person against or with respect to any circumstance shall include indemnifying and keeping it harmless, on an after tax basis, from all actions, claims and proceedings from time to time made against it and all losses, damages, liabilities, payments, costs and expenses suffered, made or incurred by it as a consequence of or in connection with that circumstance.
- 1.7 The Parties shall do and sign or execute or procure to be done, signed or executed all such agreed acts, deeds, documents and things as may be necessary or desirable in order to achieve the purposes of this Agreement.
- 1.8 Where the requirement of consent from any Party is expressly provided for in this Agreement, it may not, unless otherwise stated as being at the discretion of the Party giving it, be unreasonably withheld or delayed, or subject to unreasonable conditions.
- 1.9 Unless the context otherwise requires, the word "including" shall mean "including but not limited to" and "include" and "includes" shall be construed accordingly.
- 1.10 For the purposes of the Electronic Commerce Act, 2000, references to "writing" in this Agreement if provided in an electronic form shall be deemed to be "writing" for the purposes of all applicable legislation where "writing" is required and words in an

electronic form shall be deemed to be "signed" for the purposes of all applicable legislation where a "signature" is required.

## 2. **Definitions**

- "2003 TUPE Regulations" means the European Communities (Protection of Employees on Transfer of Undertakings) Regulations 2003.
- "Acceptance Certificate" is the means of formal acceptance issued to the Contractor by the Customer on the successful completion of a User Acceptance Test.
- "Acceptance Procedures" means the terms and conditions applicable to accepting completion of the Requirements and Specifications and as set out in Schedule 8 (Acceptance Procedures) to this Agreement.
- "Agreement" means this agreement (including all relevant Parts and Schedules) between the Parties and shall include, where applicable, any Service Level Agreement, Official Purchase Order and/or Lot Agreement.
- "CCN" means Change Control Note and has the meaning given to it in Schedule 5 (Change Control Procedures).
- "Change Control Procedure" means the procedure used to formally manage change as set out in Schedule 5 (Change Control Procedures).
- "Commencement Date" means the date the Contractor must start the Agreement and as specified in Clause 14.1 (Programme).
- "Commissioned Software" means software that has been developed specifically for the Customer and as described in Clause 79.1 (Commissioned Software).
- "Configured Software" means software which exists and/or has been designed and developed with the intention of being configured to meet the specific requirements.
- "Configured" has the meaning given to it in Clause 80.1 (Configured Software).
- "Contractor Software" means software owned by or licensed to the Contractor, which is required to be supplied by the Contractor to the Customer for use by Customer in connection with the Solution and which includes the Software listed in the Requirements and Specifications but which excludes Commissioned Software and Commissioned Software.
- "Contractor's People" means Contractor staff, employees, contractors, persons assisting the Contractor and/or the Customer (as the case may be) in the provision of the Solution, (including officers, employees and sub-contractors) of any tier.
- "Contractor's Tender" means the Contractor's proposals for the Solution attached at Schedule 4 (Contractor's Tender).
- "Customer Data" has the meaning given to it in Clause 18.2 (Customer Data).
- "Customer Data Security Policies" means the policies that relate to the security of Customer Data and as included in Clause 22 (Customer Policies).
- "Customer Data Encryption Policy" means the encryption policy of the Customer, which is defined as one of the Customer Policies.

- "Customer Hardware" means hardware, tools, equipment and other tangible property (including mobile telephony, personal digital assistance devices and data network components, diagnostic kits and engineer toolage) and physical infrastructure owned or leased by the Customer and used in connection with systems the equivalent of the system prior to the Effective Date.
- "Customer Intellectual Property Rights" means the Intellectual Property rights in the Commissioned Software, Configured Software and in any modifications of the Customer Software or any other work, database or invention made by, or on behalf of, the Contractor in fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement.
- "Customer Representative" means the Customer person responsible for the day to day engagement with the Contractor and the delivery of the system, supplies or services, in accordance with this Agreement.
- "Customer Policies" means those policies referred to at Clause 22 (Customer Policies).
- "Customer's People" means the Customer's members, officers, employees, servants or agents including other Customer contractors and sub-contractors.
- "Customer Sites" means all Irish Health Service sites where the System or Supplies may be deployed or where Services may be provided under this Agreement.
- "Customer Software" means software owned by, or licensed to, the Customer which is used by the Customer in connection with systems the equivalent of the system prior to the Effective Date, including the material software listed in connection with the Solution.
- "days" are calendar days.
- "**Default**" means any breach of the obligations of either Party or any default, act, omission, negligence, or statement, of either Party, its employees, agents or sub-contractors in connection with, or in relation to, the subject matter of this Agreement, which causes loss or damage to the other Party.
- "Delete" means removing all Information which is electronically held in such a way that it can never be retrieved from the device on which it is held.
- "Disaster" means a major event, or series of events which together have the effect of a major event, that significantly impacts the normal operation of the System and/or provision of the Services.
- "Dispute Notice" means a written notice of a dispute or difference and has the meaning given to it in Clause 92.2 (Mediation).
- "Dispute Resolution Procedure" means the procedures for dispute resolution set out at part 6 of this Agreement.
- "Effective Date" means the date of execution of this Agreement.
- **"Exit Management Plan"** means the plan to the managed and controlled exit of the incumbent Contractor and transition to the Customer or other third party as specified by the Customer. The exit management plan specified in Schedule 9 (Termination Assistance).
- "Expert" means an independent party who has expertise in the area giving rise to a dispute and has the meaning given to it in Clause 92.6 (Mediation).
- "Expiry Date" means the date on which the Term expires pursuant to Clause 3.1 (Term).

"Force Majeure" means in relation to a Party, any of the following events or circumstances beyond the reasonable control of that Party and which is not due to the act, error, omission, breach, default or negligence of the Party or any of its officers, employees, servants, agents or contractors:

- (a) acts of terrorists;
- (b) war declared or undeclared, blockade, revolution, riot, insurrection, civil commotion, invasion or armed conflict;
- (c) sabotage or acts of vandalism, criminal damage or the threat of such acts;
- (d) natural disasters and phenomena including extreme weather or environmental conditions, fire, flood, earthquake, meteorites, explosions including nuclear explosion, radioactive or chemical contamination or ionising radiation or other elements of nature or acts of God;
- (e) acts of national, local or foreign governmental authorities or courts;
- (f) failures in either Party's or Third Party electrical power, and
- (g) any strike, lockout or other industrial action or labour dispute affecting the Customer
- (h) but does not include: (i) any strike, lock-out or other industrial action or labour dispute primarily or substantially aimed at the Contractor or its subcontractors, agents or employees or (ii) events affecting a contractor or supplier of the Party that would not have constituted Force Majeure under this Agreement.

"Good Industry Practice" means the standards that would apply to a company seeking to perform its contractual obligations in good faith and in a manner that demonstrates the exercise of a degree of skill, diligence, prudence and foresight that would be expected from a skilled and experienced Contractor in the information technology services industry and in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and applicable quality and industry standards.

"Hardware Agreements" means maintenance and support agreements relating to hardware used in the provision or use of the Solution.

"HIQA" means the Health Information and Quality Authority.

"**ICDR**" means International Centre for Dispute Resolution and has the meaning given to it in Clause 92.4(a) (Mediation).

"Incoming Contractor" means a Contractor who provides relevant Services pursuant to any exercise by the Customer of its rights under Clause 13 (Step In Rights).

"**Information**" means any and all information, (irrespective of the format - paper, electronic or otherwise) belonging to the Customer, including the following:

- (a) personal information concerning the Customer's clients, patients or staff, including confidential Information concerning the physical and mental health of the Customer's clients, patients and staff;
- (b) information regarding the business affairs of the Customer generally, and as regards the Agreement;
- (c) information regarding the policies, procedures and work practices of the Customer;

- (d) supplies and services (including audit, consultancy and related services);
- (e) information regarding the existence, content, progress or conclusion of any negotiations between the Customer and the Contractor relating to the Agreement and the Solution; and
- (f) confidential codes or other information concerning access to the Customer's computer networks and/or information systems.

"**Initial Term**" means the period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on the [enter Agreement length per advertised tender (n<sup>th</sup>)] anniversary of the Effective Date.

"Intellectual Property" means any and all rights pertaining to discoveries, trade secrets, confidential business information, financial, marketing and business data, concepts, ideas, improvements to existing technology (whether or not written down or otherwise converted to tangible form), patents, patent applications, designs, trademarks, service marks, goodwill, copyright, moral rights, know-how, and all other forms of industrial or intellectual property (in each case in any part of the world and whether or not registered or registrable.

"**Key Personnel**" means personnel identified in the Tender submitted by the Contractor for the performance of the Agreement whose skills, knowledge or experience are recognised by one or both Parties to be such that they can directly influence the successful outcome of the Agreement.

"Legal Requirements" means the requirements of:

- (a) any governing law, rule or statutory regulation applicable in Ireland;
- (b) any person who, pursuant to European Community or Irish law, has authority in relation to the Agreement (apart from requirements of the Customer under the Agreement);
- (c) any guidance, policy or directions with which the Contractor is contractually bound to comply.

"Lot" means a package or statement of work relating to the Solution, which package or statement of work is the subject of a Lot Agreement.

"Lot Agreement" means, where the Solution is being provided in a number of Lots, the agreement setting out particular terms and conditions relating to the relevant Lot in the form or substantially the form of the Lot Agreement attached at Schedule 7 (Lot Agreement).

"Lot Letting Procedure" has the meaning given to it in Clause 84.1 (Lot Letting Procedure).

"Lot Request" has the meaning given to it in Clause 84.2(a) (Lot Letting Procedure).

"Lot Request Response" has the meaning given to it in Clause 84.2(b) (Lot Letting Procedure).

"Milestone Date" means any date identified as such in a Timetable.

"Necessary Consents" means all permissions, approvals, certificates, licenses, permits, regulations and consents necessary from time to time for the performance of the Agreement.

"Negotiating Period" has the meaning given to it in Clause 92.3 (Mediation).

- "Official Purchase Order" means the Customer purchase order issued in respect of the Agreement, in the official format of the Customer and which is issued by an authorised Customer staff member to the Contractor identifying the:
- (a) Contractor;
- (b) Price:
- (c) purchase order number; and
- (d) the Customer Representative.
- "Payment Schedule" means the schedule attached to this Agreement at Schedule 2 (Payment Schedule) detailing the Price payable in respect of the performance of the Agreement.
- "**Performance Criteria**" means the performance criteria which it is intended the Hardware, Software, Systems and Services shall fulfil, as specified in the Requirements and Specifications, subject to the tolerances, limitations and exceptions stated therein.
- "Persistent Failure" means a repetitive or continuing failure by the Contractor to meet -the Service Levels Response Times for the relevant Service for any six months in a period of twelve (12) months or for any three (3) consecutive months in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- "**Price**" means the sums payable to the Contractor in accordance with Schedule 2 2(d)(viii)(A) (Payment Schedule).
- "**Professional Services**" means the provision of a service where the vendor makes available either on site or remotely, the services of a suitably competent professional to perform tasks that are deemed necessary for the successful delivery of the Solution.
- "**Project Manager**" means the project manager assigned by either the Contractor or the Customer, as appropriate, with the responsibilities set out in Clause 89.1 (Representatives and Contract Management Review).
- "Relevant Claim" has the meaning given to it in Clause 20.2 (Intellectual Property Rights Indemnity).
- "**Representative**" has the meaning given to it in Clause 89.2 (Representatives, Agreement Management and Review).
- "Requirements and Specifications" means the description of the goods and services required by the Customer, that forms the basis of this Agreement and as set out in Schedule 1 (Requirements and Specifications) to this Agreement, and as described in associated Lot Agreements and Technical Specifications and as may be varied by the Parties pursuant to the Change Control Procedure.
- "Review Board" has the meaning given to it in Clause 89.7 (Representatives and Contract Management Review).
- "Review Board Report" has the meaning given to it in Clause 89.11 (Representatives and Contract Management Review).
- "Review Meeting" has the meaning given to it in Clause 89.3 (Representatives and Contract Management Review).

- "Safe Harbour" means the framework for the transfer of personal data from the European Union to the United States of America which has been developed by the U.S. Department of Commerce in consultation with the European Commission and where the U.S. based recipient has been approved by the U.S. Department of Commerce.
- "Service" or "Services" means those services to be delivered by the Contractor in accordance with this Agreement and which may include Professional Services, Training Services, Technical, Support and Maintenance Services.
- "Service Credits" means the service credits specified in Schedule 3 (Service Level Agreement).
- "Service Level Agreement" means the agreement set out at Schedule 3 (Service Level Agreement).
- "Service Levels" means the levels set out in the Service Level Agreement.
- "**Software**" means any software supplied by the Contractor to the Customer under this Agreement to include the Customer Software, Commissioned Software, Contractor Software, Third Party Software and Configuration.
- "Software Specification" means the description of Software functions, facilities, performance levels (where appropriate) and related matters, whether supplied by the Contractor as an output in performing the Agreement, or supplied by the Customer from its own resources.
- "Solution" means the combination of systems, supplies, goods and services that the Customer wishes to procure and that forms the basis of this Agreement.
- "Source Code" means computer code in eye-readable form and in such form that it can be compiled or interpreted into equivalent object code, together with all technical information and documentation reasonably necessary to allow a competent and trained computer programmer use, reproduce, modify and enhance such software.
- "Source Materials" means all eye readable or computer or other machine readable data, specifications, input and output formats, algorithms, file structures, Source Code and object code listings that relate to a piece of software, which together are sufficient to allow a person reasonably skilled in the part to read, understand and modify the software.
- "Substantial Breach" means a material breach of the Agreement which has a material adverse effect on the performance of the Agreement.
- "Supplies" means those supplies as detailed in the Requirements and Specifications and Official Purchase Order to be supplied by the Contractor in accordance with this Agreement.
- "System" means the [SYSTEM NAME] to be provided by the Contractor in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
- "Tax Point" is the date at which VAT applies.
- "Technical Support and Maintenance Services" means those services identified as such in the relevant Service Level Agreement.
- "**Tender**" means the tender submitted by the Contractor for entry into this Agreement and includes any clarifications issued after the date of tender submission and prior to the Effective Date.

"**Term**" has the meaning given to it in Clause 3 (Term).

"**Termination Date**" means any date of early termination of this Agreement in accordance with Clauses 25 (Termination).

"Termination Period" means the last twelve (12) months before expiry of this Agreement or, if notice to terminate this Agreement has been served in accordance with its terms and there is a shorter or longer period between such notice and termination, then that shorter or longer period.

"Third Party Software" means Software and User Documentation associated therewith, owned or licensable by third parties which is required in order to deliver the Solution.

"Third Party Software Agreements" means agreements for the licensing, support and/or maintenance of Third Party Software used in connection with services the equivalent of the Services (a) prior to the Effective Date, and (b) in the operation of the system and provision of the Services on and from the Effective Date.

"**Timetable**" means the timetable attached at Schedule 6 (Timetable) or, where the Agreement is to be completed in Lots, the timetable attached to the relevant Lot Agreement.

"Training Services" has the meaning given to it in Clause 64.7 (Training Services).

"User Acceptance Tests" has the meaning given to it in Schedule 8 (Acceptance Procedures).

"User Documentation" means the operating manuals to be provided by the Contractor in respect of the Software.

"Working Days" are days that are not a Saturday, Sunday, a public holiday established under the Organisation of Working Time Act 1997, Christmas Eve or Good Friday.

# 3. Term

- 3.1 This Agreement commences on the Effective Date and shall continue for the Initial Term unless:
  - (a) extended under Clause 3.3 below or if agreed as part of the Exit Management Plan; or
  - (b) terminated under Clause 25 (Termination).
- 3.2 The system shall be implemented by the Contractor at each of the Customer Sites during the Implementation Term in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, and the Contractor shall provide the Services to the Customer during the Initial Term in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Requirements and Specifications.
- 3.3 The Customer may extend the term of this Agreement for a period of up to [enter extension period as per advertised tender (n)] years beyond the Initial Term by issuing additional Lots or giving the Contractor at least six (6) months' notice expiring on or before the last day of the Initial Term. If this Agreement is extended pursuant to this Clause 3.3, any extended period shall form part of the Term.
- 3.4 Where the Term exceeds one year, this Agreement will be subject to annual review during the Term. This annual review shall occur on or about the anniversary of the Effective Date. Both Parties agree to put in place, within three months of the

Effective Date, procedures for the conduct of the annual review. The annual review shall consider the performance by both Parties of their respective obligations under this Agreement. Both Parties shall act reasonably and diligently in carrying out each annual review. Any agreed adjustment pursuant to a review shall be effective immediately following the completion of the relevant annual review.

3.5 This Agreement supersedes any previous oral or written negotiations, commitments, representations, communications and agreements.

# 4. Acceptance of the Terms of the Contract

- 4.1 By commencing the provision of Services or by delivering the Supplies to a date and location as specified by the Customer, the Contractor acknowledges that it is bound by the terms of the Agreement.
- 4.2 The Contractor hereby waives its own conditions of sale save for exceptions to the contrary which are specifically and explicitly approved in writing by the Customer and are set out in the relevant Service Level Agreement.

## 5. **Provision of the Solution**

- 5.1 The Contractor shall perform provide the Solution during the Term in accordance with:
  - (a) the terms of this Agreement;
  - (b) the Customer requirements as set out in the Requirements and Specifications;
  - (c) the Contractor's Tender;
  - (d) the applicable Service Levels;
  - (e) Official Purchase Orders and/or Lot Agreements; and
  - (f) Good Industry Practice.
- 5.2 The Contractor acknowledges that the Customer is relying on the Contractor's knowledge, experience, expertise and competence in the Contractor's performance of its obligations under this Agreement, and on the accuracy of all statements, reports or returns made by the Contractor in connection with its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.
- 5.3 The Contractor shall provide the Solution during the agreed working hours and at the locations specified in the Requirements and Specifications.
- 5.4 In providing the Solution, the Parties acknowledge that Contractor co-operation with other third parties may be required. In this respect, the Contractor shall co-operate with third party suppliers:
  - (a) to the extent reasonably required for the purposes of integrating the Solution with that of such third party suppliers. To the extent there are specific requirements in this regard, these are set out in the Requirements and Specifications; and
  - (b) without incurring any material costs in order to allow such third party suppliers to perform their contractual obligations to the Customer.

- 5.5 The Customer shall, during the Term, comply with its obligations in respect of the delivery of the Solution as set out in the Requirements and Specifications.
- 5.6 Unless otherwise expressly stated in the Requirements and Specifications, the Contractor shall operate on a non-exclusive basis and the Customer reserves the right to allocate services, supplies or support to one or more alternative providers and/or to provide services, supplies or support from its own resources.
- 5.7 The requirements in respect of the Solution are set out in the Requirements and Specifications.
- 5.8 The Contractor warrants that as of the Effective Date:
  - (a) it has had the opportunity to ask the Customer all questions it considers to be relevant for the purpose of establishing whether it is able to provide the Solution in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; and
  - (b) it has received all material Information requested by it from the Customer to enable it to determine whether it is able to provide the Solution in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; and
  - (c) where necessary, has made its own enquiries to satisfy itself as to the accuracy and adequacy of any Information supplied to it by or on behalf of the Customer; and
  - (d) it has entered into this Agreement in reliance on its own due diligence.
- 5.9 The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Customer reserves the right to require the completion of the Agreement in a number of Lots. Where this applies, in addition to the terms of this Agreement, the Contractor shall complete the Agreement in accordance with the terms of the relevant Lot Agreement and Service Level Agreement.

## 6. **Joint and Several Liability**

If more than one person is identified as the Contractor, they are jointly and severally liable to the Customer for due performance of the Agreement.

## 7. **Price**

- 7.1 The Contractor must provide the Solution at its own expense.
- 7.2 The Customer must pay the Contractor the Price for providing the Solution according to this Agreement.
- 7.3 The Contractor is taken to have satisfied itself before entering into this Agreement that the Price is correct and sufficient, and to have taken account of all that is required to perform this Agreement (and specifically the provision of all goods and services required hereunder), and to have included in the Price all costs associated with the Solution including:
  - (a) transport;
  - (b) handling, packing, loading, unloading, unpacking, checking and insuring any Supplies;
  - (c) documentation;

(d) all applicable government and local authority taxes, levies or charges. (As provided in Clause 8.3(b) and 8.3(f) to the extent VAT is applicable this will be itemised separately on any submitted invoice).

# 8. **Payments**

- 8.1 Unless otherwise directed by the Customer, all payments under this Agreement will be by electronic funds transfer in euro.
- 8.2 The Customer shall be under no obligation to accept or pay for any products or services supplied earlier than the date for delivery as set out in the Timetable.
- 8.3 Payments will only be made upon receipt of completed deliverables. The Payment Schedule sets out the deliverables which trigger payment milestones. When the Agreement, or a Lot or stage within the Agreement, has been properly completed, the Contractor must submit an invoice to the Representative of the Customer notified to it by the Customer for that purpose, stating:
  - (a) the name and address of the Contractor;
  - (b) the invoice number and invoice date and/or Tax Point;
  - (c) the number of the Official Purchase Order or, in the case of a Lot, the reference for the relevant Lot Agreement;
  - (d) the product codes and descriptions for the Solution, and a breakdown of the part of the Price applicable to each code;
  - (e) the Price;
  - (f) if there is VAT, VAT itemised separately by VAT code and the Contractor's VAT registration number.

The form of invoice will be in hard copy unless otherwise requested by the Customer.

- 8.4 If the Agreement includes Supplies, the invoice must show the delivery address as stated on the Official Purchase Order or Lot Agreement and be accompanied by a delivery note that was signed by the Customer's Representative when the Supplies were properly delivered. If the delivery note is not included, the sum set out in the invoice shall not become due and owing until proof of delivery is provided by the Contractor to the Customer.
- 8.5 If this Agreement provides for interim payment for completion of stages of the Agreement, the Contractor must submit an interim invoice for the stage portion of the Price when the stage has been properly completed. The interim invoice must comply with this Clause 8.
- 8.6 If the Customer is satisfied that:
  - (a) The Agreement, Lot or Stage has been completed according to this Agreement;
  - (b) The Contractor has complied with this Clause 8;
  - (c) The Contractor has a current tax clearance certificate where payments by the Customer to the Contractor total ten thousand euro (€10,000) or more (including VAT) in a 12 month period; and

(d) The invoice complies with section 17 of the Value Added Tax Act 1972;

then the Customer must pay the amount due, less any deduction permitted under this Agreement, within thirty (30) days after the Customer received the invoice, unless the Customer has informed the Contractor within twenty (20) days in writing if it disputes in good faith the amount specified in any invoice, providing details of the amount disputed and the grounds for doing so. In this case, both Parties shall apply the Dispute Resolution Procedure in order to resolve such dispute. Where the Customer disputes an amount specified in an invoice then, to the extent applicable, the Customer will pay the undisputed part of the invoice but will be entitled not to pay the disputed amount pending resolution of the dispute. Following resolution of the dispute the Contractor shall, either, withdraw the disputed invoice or obtain release of the sums held as agreed between the Parties. Interest earned on the sums held shall accrue to the benefit of the Parties in the manner agreed between the Parties or otherwise determined by the Dispute Resolution Procedure.

- 8.7 To the extent Term is for a period of greater than one (1) year, indexation shall not apply in respect of the Price unless expressly agreed and detailed in Schedule 2 (Payment Schedule).
- 8.8 Payment shall be made in accordance with all applicable Legal Requirements (e.g. the Prompt Payment of Accounts Act, 1997 and the European Communities (Late Payment in Commercial Transactions) Regulations 2012), including the sections referring to the application of interest to late payments.
- 8.9 Except as provided in this Agreement, nothing herein shall entitle the Contractor to payment for goods, supplies or services beyond the scope of this Agreement, or which are not provided for in this Agreement. In addition, an invoice shall not become valid until all criteria for payment have been accepted, achieved or passed by the Contractor, as appropriate, and as set out in Schedule 2 (Payment Schedule).
- 8.10 The Contractor shall ensure that the payment provisions of any supply or sub-contract agreement shall not adversely affect the Contractor's performance of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.
- 8.11 The Customer shall not be responsible for reimbursement of the Contractor's expenses, save where and to the extent set out in Schedule 2 (Payment Schedule).
- 8.12 The Price payable to the Contractor under this Agreement shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for or on account of taxes, save where the Customer is required to make such payment subject to the deduction or withholding of tax.
- 8.13 The Contractor expressly agrees that the Customer shall be entitled to withhold and set off monies owing to the Contractor in accordance with this Agreement in the event and to the extent that the Contractor owes any monies, damages, costs or expenses to the Customer as a result of or in connection with the Contractor's performance or failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement.
- 8.14 Further details in relation to payments are set out in Schedule 2 (Payment Schedule).

## 9. **Debts to the Customer**

9.1 The Customer may recover any money due from the Contractor under or for breach of this Agreement:

- (a) as a simple contract debt due and recoverable in any Court of competent jurisdiction; or
- (b) by deducting the money from any other money due or to become due to the Contractor under this Agreement or any other contract between the Parties.

#### 10. **VAT**

- 10.1 All amounts due under this Agreement are inclusive of VAT.
- 10.2 If any supply under this Agreement is or becomes chargeable to VAT then all amounts due under this Agreement are inclusive of VAT. As set out in Clause 8.3(f), where VAT is chargeable it shall be separately itemised in any invoice submitted by the Contractor to the Customer.

# 11. Legal Requirements

- 11.1 The Contractor shall, in performing the Agreement, comply with all Legal Requirements and ensure that the Contractor's People comply with all Legal Requirements.
- 11.2 The Contractor shall ensure that the Solution complies with all Legal Requirements.

# 12. Early Warning

- 12.1 Each Party shall promptly warn the other whenever it has reasonable grounds to believe that any failure on the part of the Contractor, the Customer or any third party to carry out its obligations and responsibilities under or associated with the performance of the Agreement, or the manner in which it is carried out, will have, or threatens to have, a detrimental effect on:
  - (a) the quality or timing of any element of the Solution;
  - (b) the efficiency or cost to the Customer of its supply;
  - (c) the operation of the Customer's business or
  - (d) the performance of any other obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement.
- 12.2 Following such a warning, Clause 14.6 (Programme) shall apply.
- 12.3 For the avoidance of doubt nothing in this Clause 12 shall oblige any Party to monitor, supervise or otherwise manage the other Party's obligations under this Agreement (without prejudice to any express provision otherwise, elsewhere in this Agreement).

# 13. Step In Rights

- 13.1 If:
  - (a) the Contractor commits a Substantial Breach of this Agreement;
  - (b) there is a Persistent Failure;
  - (c) a Force Majeure event arises; or

(d) the Customer exercises its rights under Clause 33 (Fraud)

the Customer may, without prejudice to its other rights and remedies, notify the Contractor that it intends to exercise its rights under this Clause 13.

- 13.2 If the Contractor does not substantially remedy the failure to the satisfaction of the Customer within twenty eight (28) days of the notice referred to in Clause 13.1 above or lesser period if reasonably deemed by the Customer to be necessary to mitigate its potential loss, the Customer may itself perform, or may employ and pay a third party to perform the Agreement.
- 13.3 The Customer's payment obligations in respect of any affected element of the Agreement shall be suspended until the Contractor resumes delivery of the Solution in accordance with this Clause 13. The Customer's reasonable costs in exercising its rights under this Clause 13 shall, at the Customer's option, be deducted from any sums due to the Contractor or, at the Customer's option, shall be recoverable by the Customer as a debt.
- 13.4 The Customer shall permit the Contractor to resume delivery of the Solution immediately once it is satisfied on reasonable grounds that the Contractor will be able to resume delivery of the Solution in accordance with this Agreement.
- 13.5 The Contractor shall co-operate in all reasonable respects with the Customer and any third party engaged by the Customer under this Clause 13. On entering into any agreements with third parties, the Contractor shall ensure that the Customer's rights under this Clause 13 are in no way restricted and that all Necessary Consents are in place to allow the Customer fully exercise its rights under this Clause 13.

# 14. **Programme**

- 14.1 Unless otherwise agreed, the Contractor must start the Agreement on the Commencement Date, being the date specified in the Timetable or, in the absence of a Timetable, on receipt of the Official Purchase Order.
- 14.2 The Contractor must do the work regularly and diligently, and complete it within the period stated in the Timetable. In the absence of a Timetable, the Contractor must complete the Agreement within the timeframe as otherwise agreed with the Customer.
- 14.3 Any change to a Timetable will only be made in accordance with this Clause 14, Clause 50 (Change Control), and Clause 40 (Force Majeure) and the Contractor shall submit to the Customer, within five (5) Working Days of any request, a copy of any the varied Timetable.
- 14.4 In the event that the Contractor fails to fulfil an obligation by the date specified in a Timetable, due to the breach by the Customer of its obligations under this Agreement, the Contractor shall nevertheless, at the request of the Customer, provide reasonable and agreed assistance and resources as may be necessary to fulfil the said obligations as early as practicable thereafter.
- 14.5 Costs incurred as a result of delays which arise on the part of the Contractor, any subcontractor or third party, engaged by the Contractor, shall be borne by the Contractor.
- In the event that the Contractor fails to fulfil an obligation by the date specified in a Timetable for fulfilment, due to the act or the omission of the Contractor:

- (a) the Parties shall promptly discuss the matter in good faith with a view to resolving the matter as soon as reasonably possible, to the satisfaction of both Parties. In this regard, the Customer shall be entitled to require the Contractor to submit a report to the Customer identifying (i) the reasons for the failure and (ii) the Contractor's proposed corrective measures which, if the Timetable is affected must involve the Contractor submitting a revised Timetable showing the manner in which future Milestone Dates will be achieved. The corrective measures set out in the report shall include details of arrangements for additional or redeployed resources as are necessary to fulfil the obligations and details of any further measures required to ensure the performance of the Agreement; and
- (b) the Customer shall have the right, at its option to:
  - (i) amend the relevant Timetable to take account of the delay, in accordance with the Change Control Procedure (having regard to the reasons provided by the Contractor pursuant to Clause 14.6(a) above); and/or
  - (ii) deduct a percentage of the Price payable for achievement of the relevant Milestone Date in the manner set out in Schedule 2 (Payment Schedule).
- 14.7 The Timetable for the completion of the Agreement shall expire at the end of the period set out therein. Where the Agreement is being delivered in Lots then that Lot shall expire on the date set out in the Lot Agreement. This date may occur after the expiry date of the Term provided always that the Lot Agreement has been entered into in advance of the expiry of the Term. For these purposes, any reference to the Term in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the period referred to in the relevant Lot Agreement.
- 14.8 The provisions of this Clause 14 shall be applied at the sole discretion of the Customer and shall be without prejudice to the other rights and remedies of the Customer.

## 15. Suspension

- 15.1 The Customer may, at any time, acting reasonably (and without prejudice to its other rights or remedies arising under this Agreement or in law), by providing not less than thirty (30) days' prior written notice suspend this Agreement in its entirety for a period of not less than thirty (30) Working Days or greater than one hundred and twenty (120) Working Days, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties, acting in good faith.
- 15.2 In the case of termination for Substantial Breach (where such termination is the subject of a dispute) the Customer reserves the right to suspend the Agreement with immediate effect until such time as the dispute is resolved.
- 15.3 On any suspension by the Customer:
  - (a) the Contractor shall wind-down the provision of the Solution as appropriate to a suspension; and
  - (b) The Customer shall be liable to the Contractor for payment of the Price due and payable up to the date of suspension. For the avoidance of doubt, the

Contractor shall not be entitled to any other payment or damages for suspension.

15.4 The Parties shall agree terms relating to ramp-up of the supply and provision of the Solution in order to meet the intended date for re-commencement thereof, as set out in the initial Customer written notice, or subsequently notified by the Customer in writing. It is acknowledged by the Customer that particular provisions may be required in relation to retention of Key Personnel during the period of suspension.

# 16. **Disaster Recovery**

In the event of a Disaster, the Contractor will be required to provide all resources necessary and reasonable on a 24/7 basis until such time as service is restored following the occurrence of the Disaster. Further details may be set out in the Requirements and Specifications.

#### 17. **Provision of Information**

- 17.1 The Customer's response or failure to respond to any communication from the Contractor does not constitute or imply any review or verification by the Customer, or relieve the Contractor from any responsibility or liability.
- 17.2 The Contractor acknowledges and agrees that at the Effective Date it has been supplied with sufficient Information about the Customer's requirements to enable it to perform the Agreement from the Effective Date.

#### 18. **Customer Data**

- 18.1 The Contractor shall perform the Agreement in accordance with Customer Data Security Policies and any other Customer Policies furnished to the Contractor by the Customer after the Effective Date in accordance with Clause 22 (Customer Policies).
- 18.2 The Customer and the Contractor shall each take reasonable precautions (having regard to the nature of their respective obligations under this Agreement and in accordance with Good Industry Practice) to preserve the integrity of Customer data, material and information.
- 18.3 If Customer Data, material or Information are corrupted or lost as a result of any default by the Contractor, the Customer shall have the option to:
  - (a) require the Contractor, at the Contractor's own expense, to restore or ensure the restoration of Customer Data, material or Information to the point in time when the data was lost or corrupted; or
  - (b) itself restore or ensure the restoration of Customer Data, material or Information and the Contractor shall be obliged to pay the Customer reasonable costs of so doing.
- 18.4 The following shall apply to data, material or Information supplied by the Customer to the Contractor:
  - (a) Intellectual Property rights in the Customer Data, material or Information shall remain the property of the Customer or its licensors;
  - (b) the Contractor may use the data, material or Information solely to the extent necessary for the provision of the Solution;

- (c) the Contractor shall comply with any reasonable directions made by the Customer from time to time relating to use of the data, material or Information; and
- (d) the Contractor shall not share, forward, distribute, copy, destroy or otherwise provide access to Customer Data without the prior consent of the Customer.

# 19. **Intellectual Property Rights**

- 19.1 The Contractor hereby grants to the Customer the right to use such Intellectual Property as may be necessary for the Customer to receive the benefit of this Agreement and of any particular Agreement having regard to the licences provided in Clause 78.2 (Contractor Software).
- 19.2 The Contractor shall not acquire any right, title or interest in or to the Customer Software or Commissioned Software or the media on which the Customer Software or Commissioned Software is supplied or kept, or any Intellectual Property rights relating to them, nor generally in any Intellectual Property rights provided by the Customer to the Contractor (other than the licence rights granted hereunder).

#### 19.3 The Contractor shall not:

- (a) make more than a reasonable number of back-up copies of Customer Software or Commissioned Software such number to align to Customer Policies. Copies of Customer Software and Commissioned Software shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and shall be deemed to form part of the Customer Software;
- (b) except to the extent necessary to perform the Agreement and expressly permitted by the Customer, use or access the Source Code versions of Customer Software;
- (c) assign, transfer, sell, lease, rent, charge or otherwise deal in or encumber Customer Software or Commissioned Software or use Customer Software or Commissioned Software on behalf of a third party or make Customer Software available to a third party;
- (d) remove or alter any copyright or other proprietary notice on any Customer Software or Commissioned Software; or
- (e) de-compile or reverse engineer Customer Software or Commissioned Software.
- 19.4 Title to Customer Intellectual Property Rights shall vest in the Customer on creation and the Contractor assigns by present assignment of future rights Customer Intellectual Property Rights to the Customer with unencumbered title and the Contractor will procure the waiver of all moral rights in Customer Intellectual Property Rights in favour of the Customer. The Contractor shall during the Term, deliver one copy of the Source Materials to the Customer upon its creation and shall, during the Term, provide up-to-date versions of the Source Materials for Customer Intellectual Property Rights. The Contractor shall from time to time (and shall procure that its officers, employees, consultants sub-contractors and assignees) execute any documents which the Customer requires to perfect its title in Customer Intellectual Property Rights.

19.5 Save as otherwise agreed or specified in this Clause 19, the Contractor shall own all Intellectual Property rights in Software and/or materials developed exclusively by it, not funded by the Customer, and not arising from delivery of the Solution (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, Commissioned Software).

# 20. Intellectual Property Rights Indemnity

- 20.1 The Contractor shall defend and indemnify the Customer against all claims, proceedings, liability, loss, damages, costs, demands and expenses which the Customer suffers or incurs as a result of any infringement or alleged infringement of any Intellectual Property Rights in connection with the operation of the Solution and/or receipt of Services or Supplies from the Contractor.
- Where any claim is made that there has been an infringement or alleged infringement of Intellectual Property Rights (a "**Relevant Claim**") the Contractor shall not make any admission in respect of the Relevant Claim without the consent of the Customer.
- 20.3 If, as a result of a Relevant Claim, the Solution, or any part of thereof are held to constitute an infringement of the Intellectual Property rights of any third party, without prejudice to the Customer's other rights and remedies under this Agreement the Contractor shall either:
  - (a) procure for the Customer the rights to continue to operate the Solution and/or receive the Services (as the case may be); or
  - (b) modify the Solution, and/or Services so that they are non-infringing without materially detracting from their overall performance; or
  - (c) replace the infringing element of the Solution or Services with other non-infringing items that have the equivalent performance and functionality to the infringing element/s.
- 20.4 The Contractor shall carry out its obligations under this Clause 20 as soon as reasonably practicable and without charge to the Customer and shall ensure that no interruption to the operation of the Solution or Services occurs.
- 20.5 The provisions of this Clause 20 shall survive termination.

## 21. Confidential Information

## 21.1 The Customer shall:

- (a) keep confidential the details of the negotiations leading up to and the terms of this Agreement and all information, whether in written or any other form, which has been disclosed to it by or on behalf of the Contractor in confidence or which by its nature ought to be regarded as confidential (including, without limitation, any business information in respect of the other party which is not directly applicable or relevant to the arrangements contemplated by this Agreement); and
- (b) ensure that its officers, employees and representatives keep secret and treat as confidential all such documentation and information and shall obtain from all such officers, employees, sub-contractors and representatives to whom any of such documentation and information is disclosed an undertaking in favour of the Contractor to keep the same secret and confidential.

#### 21.2 Clause 21.1 does not apply to information:

- (a) which shall after the date of this Agreement become published or otherwise generally available to the public, except in consequence of an act or omission by the Customer in contravention of the obligations in Clause 21.1;
- (b) to the extent made available to the Customer by a third party who is entitled to divulge such information and who is not under any obligation of confidentiality in respect of such information to the Contractor or which has been disclosed under an express statement that it is not confidential;
- (c) to the extent required to be disclosed by any applicable laws or by any recognised stock exchange or governmental or other regulatory or supervisory body or authority of competent jurisdiction to whose rules the Customer is subject, whether or not having the force of law, provided that the Customer shall notify the Contractor of the information to be disclosed (and of the circumstances in which the disclosure is alleged to be required) as early as reasonably possible before such disclosure must be made and shall take all reasonable action to avoid and limit such disclosure;
- (d) which has been independently developed by the Customer otherwise than in the course of the exercise of its rights under this Agreement or the implementation of this Agreement; or
- (e) which the Customer can prove was already known to it before its receipt from the disclosing party.
- 21.3 Subject to Clause 21.1 and 21.2, either party may disclose details of this Agreement, (when the party receiving the details is under an equivalent duty of confidentiality to that in this Clause 21), to its legal and financial advisers, an incoming supplier (in the case of Customer), and parties for the purposes of due diligence at an advanced stage of a proposed material corporate transaction.
- 21.4 In respect of confidentiality, the Contractor shall comply with the provisions of Part 2 (Confidentiality Agreement Clauses).
- 21.5 The provisions of this Clause 21 shall survive termination.

# 22. Customer Policies

The Contractor is obliged to comply with the following policies:

- 22.1 Customer National IT and Policies and Standards, as updated from time to time, as set out at http://www.hse.ie/eng/services/Publications/pp/ict;
- 22.2 additional policies contained within the Requirements and Specifications;
- 22.3 standard Customer policies, other than those referenced in Clauses 22.1 and 22.2 above which apply to the Solution provided by the Contractor generally;
- 22.4 policies introduced during the Term of this Agreement and that are relevant in the context of providing the Solution and Services. The Change Control Procedure will be invoked in circumstances where either Party believes the introduction of such policies is likely to have a material impact.

## 23. Data Protection and Data Security

For the purposes of this Clause 23, personal data and sensitive personal data shall have the meaning given in data protection legislation.

23.2 Each Party shall comply with the registration requirements under data protection legislation and the data protection principles and their obligations as specified in data protection legislation.

## 23.3 The Contractor shall:

- (a) save as otherwise required by law, only act on instructions from the Customer regarding the processing of personal data or sensitive personal data pursuant to this Agreement and ensure that necessary technical and organisational measures shall be taken against unauthorised or unlawful processing of the personal data and against accidental loss or destruction of, or damage to, the personal data/sensitive personal data;
- (b) from time to time comply with any reasonable request made by the Customer to ensure compliance with the measures mentioned in Clause 23.2 above;
- (c) take the measures mentioned in Clauses 23.3(a) and 23.3(b) above, having regard to the state of the technological development and the cost of implementing the measures, so as to ensure a level of security appropriate to (i) the harm that may result from breach of such measures and (ii) the nature of the personal data/sensitive personal data to be protected;
- (d) take reasonable steps to ensure the reliability of any of its employees or subcontractors who have access to the personal data/sensitive personal data provided by the Customer;
- (e) promptly comply with any request from the Customer requiring it to amend, transfer or delete personal data/sensitive personal data and provide promptly any data required by the Customer for assisting law enforcement agencies;
- (f) at the Customer's request, provide to the Customer a copy of all personal data/sensitive personal data held by it in the format in which Contractor holds that personal data/sensitive personal data or in any other format on any other media reasonably specified by the Customer;
- (g) if it receives any complaint, notice or communication in respect of the Solution and which relates directly or indirectly to the processing of personal data/sensitive personal data and/or to compliance with data protection legislation, immediately notify the Customer and provide the Customer with full co-operation and assistance in relation to any such complaint, notice or communication;
- (h) comply with a data access request within the relevant timescales set out in the data protection legislation provided it is given reasonable notice of such a request by the Customer;
- (i) not transfer personal data/sensitive personal data outside of Ireland without the prior written consent of the Customer and at all times will ensure that any permitted transfer complies with data protection legislation;
- (j) not store or transfer any personal data/sensitive personal data on or to mobile devices without the prior written consent of the Customer; and
- (k) promptly inform the Customer if it becomes aware that any personal data/sensitive personal data connected with this Agreement is lost or destroyed or becomes damaged, corrupted, or unusable or where a device

containing any personal data/sensitive personal data connected with this Agreement, including a laptop computers and/or another mobile device, is lost or stolen and shall restore such personal data/sensitive personal data at its own expense in accordance with Clause 16 (Disaster Recovery).

- 23.4 The Contractor shall comply with Customer Data Security Policies.
- 23.5 The Contractor shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that nothing is done by its employees, officers, sub-contractors or invitees which contaminates, corrupts, impairs or adversely affects customer data, and that no invasive programs, "computer viruses" or "logic bombs" are introduced by its employees, officers, sub-contractors or invitees onto the computers, computer systems or computer software owned or used by the Customer or any data on those computers or computer systems. Without prejudice to the foregoing, if any of the above is/are found to have been introduced into any such systems, the Contractor shall:
  - (a) notify the Customer immediately in writing of the introduction;
  - (b) invoke its emergency virus procedures to reduce the effect of the virus on the Customer; and
  - (c) if the virus causes an interruption to the provision of the Solution, Supplies or Services, a loss of operational efficiency or loss of data, immediately implement procedures to mitigate such losses and fully restore the Services to the last back-up and use reasonable endeavours to the standard of Good Industry Practice to restore lost data to the point in time when the data was lost or corrupted.

#### 24. Access to Premises

Where the Contractor needs access to the Customer's premises, the Contractor shall comply with all health and safety (and security) requirements of the Customer and shall ensure that all of the Contractor's People, sub-contractors and third parties engaged by the Contractor shall likewise comply with such requirements.

#### 25. **Termination**

- 25.1 The Customer may terminate this Agreement (and for the avoidance of doubt, without payment of any termination charge) by giving not less than thirty (30) calendar days' notice to the Contractor where the Contractor commits Substantial Breach of this Agreement and does not (if capable of remedy) remedy the breach before the expiry of that notice period. The Customer shall explain in the notice what the breach is and include a warning that it intends to terminate this Agreement in whole or in part unless the breach is remedied (if capable of remedy). Where such termination is disputed the Dispute Resolution Procedure shall apply.
- 25.2 The Customer may terminate this Agreement in whole by giving at least six (6) months' notice to the Contractor expiring on or after the first anniversary of the Effective Date.
- 25.3 Without prejudice to the Customer's other rights and remedies, the Customer may terminate this Agreement in whole or in part with immediate effect (and for the avoidance of doubt, without payment of any termination charge) by giving notice to the Contractor if:

- (a) the Contractor is, or becomes insolvent, or unable to pay its debts within the meaning of section 214 of the Companies Act 1963 (as amended) or suspends or threatens to suspend making payments with respect to all or any class of its debts;
- (b) an order has been made, petition presented, resolution passed or meeting convened for the winding up of the Contractor or the appointment of an examiner to the Contractor;
- (c) a liquidator, receiver or examiner has been appointed over the whole or any part of the property, assets or undertaking of the Contractor;
- (d) a composition in satisfaction of debts, scheme of arrangement, or compromise or arrangement with creditors or members (or any class of creditors or members) has been proposed, sanctioned or approved in relation to the Contractor:
- (e) the Contractor is or becomes related to any other company for the purpose of section 140 of the Companies 1990 Act (as amended), is or becomes liable to an order made under that section by virtue of any act (whether of commission or omission);
- (f) an encumbrance takes possession of, or a liquidator or receiver or similar officer is appointed in respect of, all or any part of the business or assets of the Contractor, or distress or any form of execution is levied or enforced upon or sued out against any such assets and is not discharged within 7 calendar days of being levied, enforced or sued out;
- (g) anything analogous to any of the events described in paragraphs (a) to (f) inclusive, occurs under the laws of any applicable jurisdiction;
- (h) the Contractor ceases or threatens to cease carrying on the whole or any material part of its business.
- 25.4 Without prejudice to the Customer's other rights and remedies, the Customer may terminate this Agreement in whole or in part with immediate effect (and for the avoidance of doubt, without payment of any termination charge) by giving notice to the Contractor if there is a change of control of the Contractor, where such change would, in the Customer's opinion, materially adversely affect the supply of the system and/or quality of the Services.
- 25.5 The Customer may terminate this Agreement if the User Acceptance Tests have been recorded as unsuccessful pursuant to Schedule 8 (Acceptance Procedures).
- 25.6 The Contractor may terminate this Agreement if the Customer fails to make payment in respect of an undisputed invoice within ninety (90) calendar days of its due date, provided 30 calendar days' notice of such breach and the Contractor's intention to terminate the Agreement is provided to the Customer by the Contractor (during which notice period the Customer may remedy the situation).
- 25.7 If a Force Majeure affecting the Contractor continues for more than one hundred and twenty (120) calendar days, the Customer may terminate this Agreement by giving fourteen (14) calendar days' notice.

- 25.8 If the Customer terminates this Agreement in part, it shall specify the element of the Solution and/or Services it intends to terminate and the Price shall be reduced to exclude the Price which is payable for that element.
- 25.9 Where the Customer has served notice of termination, the Customer may extend the effective termination date once only with respect to each termination. The Customer shall give reasonable notice (not less than 30 calendar days) to the Contractor of the new effective termination date of the termination. The new effective termination date shall be not more than 6 months from the date of termination specified in the notice of termination.
- 25.10 Upon any notice being given under this Clause 25, this Agreement (or the agreement as it relates to the part of the Solution or Services being terminated) shall absolutely terminate on the expiry of such notice (unless extended by Customer in accordance with Clause 25.9 above) and cease to have effect without prejudice to the terminating party's other rights and remedies in respect of the breach by the other party of this Agreement or the cause for termination, or without prejudice to any claim that the other party may make in respect of any alleged unlawful termination.
- 25.11 The Customer may terminate this Agreement for substantial breach of confidentiality pursuant to Clause 60 (Confidentiality) or in the case of a breach of Clause 23.3(k) (Data Protection and Data Security) where such breach is not rectified pursuant to Clause 16 (Disaster Recovery) within a period of seventy two (72) hours of the occurrence of the breach.
- 25.12 To the extent the Solution includes the provision of Services, the Customer may terminate this Agreement for failure by the Contractor to meet the required performance levels and targets as set out by the Requirements and Specifications, by Schedule 3 (Service Level Agreement) or relevant Lot Agreements.

# 26. Termination Assistance

- 26.1 Each Party hereto shall perform its obligations specified in Schedule 9 (Termination Assistance) and shall comply with its obligations with respect to the development and maintenance of the Exit Management Plan and the hand-over of the Solution, and Services on expiry or on a full or partial termination of this Agreement.
- Upon request, the Contractor shall be required to develop an Exit Management Plan within three (3) months of the Effective Date and to update and maintain the Exit Management Plan in accordance with the provisions of Schedule 9 (Termination Assistance). The Contractor will be liable for all reasonable costs associated with the development of the Exit Management Plan and the subsequent maintenance of the Exit Management Plan throughout the term.

## 27. Effects of Expiry and Termination

#### 27.1 **Effect**

On termination or expiry:

- (a) the Contractor must stop doing the work except for any tasks specified by the Customer or necessary for the Contractor's duties under law relating to health and safety;
- (b) the Contractor must give the Customer any documents to which the Customer is entitled as soon as practicable;

- (c) the benefit of any contract relating to the Solution will be automatically assigned to the Customer or its nominee, with immediate effect;
- (d) both parties remain liable for amounts due and breaches before termination or expiry;
- (e) The Customer may replace the Contractor with another supplier to complete the work in accordance with the terms, or substantially the terms, of this Agreement;
- (f) the Contractor shall mitigate any losses, costs, liabilities and expenses which the Contractor or its sub-contractors may incur or suffer arising there from;
- (g) to the extent applicable, the Parties will comply with their respective obligations under 2003 TUPE Regulations; and
- (h) to the extent applicable, the Contractor will comply with the requirements of the Exit Management Plan.

## 28. Compensation on Termination

- 28.1 On termination for Substantial Breach, pursuant to Clause 25.1 (Termination) or Contractor's insolvency pursuant to Clause 25.3 (Termination), the terminating Party is entitled to damages as if the termination was for the other's repudiation of the Agreement.
- 28.2 On any termination by either Party, the Contractor is entitled to a reasonable portion of the Price and costs properly incurred for the portion of the Solution properly completed before the termination. All Contractor costs must be vouched accordingly unless otherwise agreed by the Customer.
- 28.3 Neither Party is entitled to any other payment or damages for any termination.

## 29. **Indemnity**

- 29.1 The Contractor shall indemnify the Customer against all claims, demands, actions, costs and expenses (including legal costs and disbursements) which the Customer incurs directly or indirectly as a result of any act, omission or default of the Contractor, its, employees, officers, sub-contractors or invitees in respect of:
  - (a) death, personal injury, fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation;
  - (b) loss of or damage to property (including property belonging to any third party or to the Customer or for which the Customer is responsible); and
  - (c) breach of statutory duty.
- 29.2 The Contractor shall not be responsible or be obliged to indemnify the Customer for:
  - (a) any of the matters referred to in Clauses 29.1(a) to Clause 29.1(c) above which arise as a direct result of the Contractor acting on the instruction of the Customer; or
  - (b) any injury, loss, damage, cost and expense caused by the negligence or wilful misconduct of the Customer, its employees, agents or contractors or by the breach by the Customer of its obligations under this Agreement.

The liability of the Contractor to the Customer under any indemnity in this Agreement will be without prejudice to any other right or remedy available to the Customer and will be without limitation to any indemnity given by the Contractor under any other provision of this Agreement.

# 30. Limitation of Liability

- 30.1 Nothing in this Agreement excludes or limits:
  - (a) either parties' liability for fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation or theft by it or its agents or employees or, in the case of the Contractor, by any subcontractors or its agents or employees;
  - (b) the Contractor's liability for loss of, or damage to, property (including property belonging to any third party or to the Customer or for which the Customer is responsible);
  - (c) the Contractor's liability for its wilful misconduct or the wilful misconduct of its subcontractors, including the wilful misconduct of their respective officers, employees or agents;
  - (d) either parties' liability for death or personal injury caused by its negligence or that of its employees or agents or, in the case of the Contractor, by any subcontractor or its agents or employees; or
  - (e) the Contractor's liability under Clause 23 (Data Protection and Data Security), Clause 60 (Confidentiality), Clause 29.1(c) (Indemnity) or Clause 20 (Intellectual Property Indemnity).
- 30.2 Subject to Clause 30.1 above, the Customer's total aggregate liability, whether arising from tort (including negligence), breach of contract or otherwise under or in connection with this Agreement resulting in loss of or damage of whatsoever nature to the Contractor, shall in no event exceed two hundred and fifty thousand euro (€250,000).
- 30.3 Subject to Clause 30.1 above and save as otherwise set out in the relevant Service Level Agreement, the Contractor's total aggregate liability, whether arising from tort (including negligence), breach of contract or otherwise under or in connection with this Agreement resulting in loss of or damage of whatsoever nature to the Customer, shall in no event exceed six and a half million (€6,500,000).
- 30.4 Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, in no event will either Party be liable to the other Party for any consequential or indirect loss of profits or damage, howsoever arising, under or in connection with this Agreement.
- 30.5 Save as provided in Clause 30.2, 30.3 and 30.4 above, no other limitations shall apply in respect of the liability of either party under this Agreement whether arising from tort (including negligence), breach of contract or otherwise.

# 31. Conduct of Claims Subject to Contractor's Indemnities

31.1 If the Customer receives any notice, demand, letter or other document concerning any claim from which it appears that the Customer is or may become entitled to indemnification under this Agreement, the Customer will give notice in writing to the Contractor as soon as reasonably practicable.

- 31.2 Subject to the following provisions of this Clause 31 on the giving of a notice pursuant to Clause 31.1 above, the Contractor will be entitled to and will resist the claim in the name of the Customer at its own expense and will have the conduct of any defence, dispute, compromise or appeal of the claim and of any incidental negotiations, and the Customer will give the Contractor all reasonable co-operation, access and assistance for the purposes of considering and resisting such claim.
- With respect to any claim being resisted by the Contractor in accordance with Clause 31.2 above:
  - (a) the Contractor will keep the Customer fully informed and consult with it about the conduct of the claim;
  - (b) to the extent that the Customer is not entitled to be indemnified by the Contractor for all of the liability arising out of the act or omission which is the subject of the claim, no action will be taken pursuant to Clause 31.2 above which will increase the amount of any payment to be made by the Customer in respect of that part of the claim which is not covered by the indemnity from the Contractor; and
  - (c) the Contractor will not pay or settle such claim without the consent of the Customer (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld), provided that such consent will not be required to the settlement of any action if the amount of the claim to issue does not exceed ten thousand euro (€10,000).
- 31.4 Subject to complying with the provisions of the relevant required insurances, the Customer will be free to pay or settle any claim on such terms as it may, in its absolute discretion, think fit and without prejudice to its rights and remedies under this Agreement if:
  - (a) within sixty (60) Working Days of the issue date of the notice from the Authority under Clause 31.1 above the Contractor fails to notify the Customer of its intention to dispute the claim; or
  - (b) the Contractor fails to comply in any material respect with the provisions of Clause 31.3 above.
- 31.5 Subject to complying with the provisions of the relevant required insurances, the Customer will be free at any time to give notice to the Contractor that it is taking over the conduct of any defence, dispute, compromise or appeal of any claim subject to Clause 31.2 above or of any incidental negotiations. Upon receipt of such notice the Contractor will promptly take all steps necessary to transfer the conduct of such claim to the Customer and will provide to the Customer all reasonable co-operation, access and assistance for the purposes of considering and resisting such claim. If the Customer gives any notice pursuant to this Clause 31.5, then the Contractor will be released from its indemnity in respect of such Claim save where such notice was given as a consequence of the failure of the Contractor, in the opinion of the Customer (acting reasonably), to deal properly with any such claim.

# 32. **Insurance**

32.1 Unless otherwise agreed with the Customer (such agreement to be specifically contained in writing in the relevant Service Level Agreement), the Contractor must maintain insurances as follows:

Type of insurance	Minimum cover for any one claim	Permitted deductible for any one claim	Period
Property Cover on all Risks basis	Full replacement value and associated expenses	€6,500	From date of Agreement until Supplies delivered and accepted by the Customer
Product liability for any Supplies	€6,500,000	€6,500	From date of Agreement until completion of the contract
Professional indemnity for any professional services (or design works).	€6,500,000	€0,000	From date of Agreement until 6 years after completion of contract
Public liability for death, personal injury, loss of and damage to property	€6,500,000	€6,500	From date of Agreement until completion of the contract
Employer's liability for sickness, injury and death of employees	€12,700,000	€0	From date of Agreement until completion of the contract
Motor Insurance required by law	Third Party Property Damage - €2.6m. Third Party Personal Damage - Unlimited.	€0	From date of Agreement until completion of the contract

- 32.2 The Contractor must give the Customer on request copies of its insurance policies required by this Agreement and evidence that the insurances remain in effect.
- 32.3 The Contractor's insurance policy for employers/public liability shall contain a provision indemnifying the Customer against any claim made in respect of which the Contractor is entitled to indemnity.
- 32.4 The Contractor's insurances must, if the Customer so requests, name the Customer as co-insured and incorporate the automatic noting of the Customer's interest on the insurance policy, without specific endorsement.
- 32.5 If the Contractor does not on request prove that its insurances are fully in force as required by this Agreement, the Customer may insure and recover the cost from the Contractor.
- 32.6 The insurances shall be placed with reputable insurers approved by the Customer (or by the Irish Financial Regulator as may be appropriate) and shall include an Irish / EU law jurisdiction clause.

32.7 The Contractor shall be liable for any deductible in respect of any claim under any Contractor policy of insurance taken out or maintained under this Agreement and shall be solely responsible for compliance with all requirements of the insurers relating to the relevant Contractor insurance policies.

## 33. Fraud

- 33.1 The Customer may suspend the Agreement and its payment obligations if it has reasonable grounds to believe that the Contractor, its employees, officers, subcontractors or invitees has committed a fraud. If it is subsequently found that none of them had done so, the Customer shall pay the Contractor any amounts which have been unjustly withheld.
- 33.2 The Customer shall permit the Contractor, and the Contractor shall be entitled, to resume the Agreement immediately upon the earlier of the following:
  - (a) the Customer agreeing in writing to the resumption of the Agreement; or
  - (b) it is established by a court of competent jurisdiction that the Contractor, its employees, officers, sub-contractors or invitees were not responsible for any fraud.

# 34. Quality Standards

- 34.1 The Contractor shall have in place appropriate mechanisms to assess the quality and of the performance of the Solution in line with Good Industry Practice.
- 34.2 The Contractor shall comply with Legal Requirements relating to quality and standards and such other appropriate requirements as may be stipulated by recognised standard setting bodies.
- 34.3 The Customer will have the right to conduct reviews of the Contractor's quality management system and to verify compliance with the requirements of this Agreement. Such reviews may be performed by the Customer, or by its appointed Representatives, provided always that the Contractor is given not less than fifteen (15) days' prior written notice.
- In the event that the a Customer review should produce findings with regard to the Contractor's quality management system, of concern to the Customer, then, the Contractor shall produce, within thirty (30) days of the Customer's written request, a quality assurance report and plan. The Contractor shall promptly implement the provisions of such plan at its own cost.
- 34.5 The Customer shall have the right, but not the obligation, at all times to be able to inspect all or any process or procedural related specifications, documents, drawings and the like, produced by the Contractor in respect of any part of the Solution or Service. Any such inspection or any approval thereof by the Customer, shall not relieve the Contractor of any of its obligations under the Agreement, unless such inspection and/or approval constitutes a change to the Agreement or any part thereto.

## 35. Acceptance Procedures

The Contractor shall comply with all Acceptance Procedures set out in Schedule 8 (Acceptance Procedures) attached to this Agreement.

#### 36. Notices and Communications

- Any notice to be given by one Party to the other Party under, or in connection with, this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by or on behalf of the Party giving it. It shall be served by sending it by fax to the number set out in Clause 36.2 below, or delivering it by hand, or sending it by pre-paid recorded delivery, special delivery or registered post, to the address set out in Clause 36.2 below and in each case marked for the attention of the relevant party (or as otherwise notified from time to time in accordance with the provisions of this Clause 36). Any notice so served by hand, fax or post shall be deemed to have been duly given in the case of:
  - (a) delivery by hand, when delivered;
  - (b) fax, at the time of transmission;
  - (c) pre-paid recorded delivery, special delivery or registered post, at 10.00 am on the second Working Day following the date of posting

provided that in each case where delivery by hand or by fax occurs after 6.00 pm on a Working Day or on a day which is not a Working Day, service shall be deemed to occur at 9.00 am on the next following Working Day.

References to time in this Clause 36 are local time in the country of the addressee.

36.2 The addresses and fax numbers of the Parties for the purpose of Clause 36.1 above are as follows:

#### Customer

ICT Department 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor
Dr. Steevens Hospital
Dublin. 8
Ireland

Attn: Director of Information, Communications and Technology

Fax: 01-6352740

# [Contractor Name]

[Contractor Address]

Attn: [contact name]

Fax: [contact fax]

- A Party may notify the other Party to this Agreement of a change to its name, relevant addressee, address or fax number for the purposes of this Clause 36, provided that, such notice shall only be effective on:
  - (a) the date specified in the notice as the date on which the change is to take place; or
  - (b) if no date is specified or the date specified is less than five (5) Working Days after the date on which notice is given, the date following five (5) Working Days after notice of any change has been given.

36.4 For all communications other than notices, email be used. For such purposes the address of each Party shall be:

(a) For the Customer:

For the attention of: [\*]

Telephone: [\*]

E-mail: [\*]

(b) For the Contractor:

For the attention of: [\*]

Telephone: [\*]

E-mail: [\*]

## 37. Language

Communications, documents and labelling must be in English, except where the Agreement or the law specify other languages.

#### 38. Survival of Clauses

- 38.1 The provisions of Clause 1 (Interpretation), Clause 17 (Provision of Information), Clause 29 (Indemnity), Clause 32 (Insurance), Part Two Confidentiality Agreement Clauses and Clause 73 (Defective Supplies) shall survive the termination or expiry of this Agreement.
- 38.2 Termination of this Agreement shall not affect either of the Party's accrued rights or liabilities or affect the coming into force or the continuance in force of any provision which is expressly or by implication intended to come into or continue in force on or after termination.

#### 39. Transfer and Sub-Contracting

- 39.1 This Agreement will be binding on and will ensure to the benefit of the Contractor and the Customer and their respective successors and permitted assigns.
- 39.2 The Contractor shall not assign, novate, or otherwise dispose of, this Agreement, or any part thereof, without the prior written consent of the Customer.
- 39.3 The Customer shall have the right to assign, novate, sub-contract or otherwise dispose of its rights and obligations under this Agreement to a third party which has the equivalent legal capacity and credit status (either alone or evidenced government financial support) to enable it to enter into and meet the obligations under this Agreement as they fall due, upon not less than sixty (60) days prior written notice to the Contractor.
- 39.4 The Contractor must obtain the prior written approval of the Customer if it wishes to engage an agent, sub-contractor or third party to perform the Agreement or part thereof. Key sub-contractors must be listed in Schedule 4 (Contractor's Tender).

- 39.5 The Contractor must procure that any such agent, sub-contractor or third party is subject to the same obligations to which the Contractor is subject under this Agreement.
- 39.6 The Contactor shall remain responsible for the acts and omissions of its subcontractors and third party suppliers, as though they were its own.
- 39.7 The Contractor shall ensure that, to the extent necessary, the performance of the Agreement is integrated with work or services of its own sub-contractors and third party supplier(s). The Contractor shall, on an on-going basis during the Term (and at no cost to the Customer) provide all reasonable and necessary assistance, facilities or documentation requested by the Customer to other third party supplier(s) in respect of the Solution.
- 39.8 The Contractor shall be fully responsible for the acts and omissions of its sub-contractors, agents and third party supplier(s) and will indemnify the Customer in respect of all losses, damages, claims, costs (including legal costs) and professional and other expenses of any nature whatsoever incurred or suffered by the Customer as a result of any acts and omissions of any such agent, sub-contractor or third party in connection with the provision of the Solution and execution of the Agreement.

## 40. Force Majeure

- 40.1 Neither Party shall be responsible for failure to carry out any of its duties under this Agreement to the extent to which the failure is caused by Force Majeure, provided that the affected Party (being the Party suffering the Force Majeure):
  - (a) has taken all reasonable steps to prevent and avoid the Force Majeure
  - (b) carries out its duties to the best level reasonably achievable in the circumstances of the Force Majeure;
  - (c) takes all reasonable steps to overcome and mitigate the effects of the Force Majeure as soon as reasonably practicable, including actively managing any problems caused or contributed to by third parties and liaising with them;
  - (d) if the Force Majeure constitutes a Disaster, complies with its obligations set out in Clause 16 (Disaster Recovery);
  - (e) on becoming aware of the Force Majeure promptly informs the other Party in writing that something has happened which is a Force Majeure, giving details of the Force Majeure, which element of the system or Services have been affected, together with a reasonable estimate of the period during which the Force Majeure will continue;
  - (f) within 7 (seven) calendar days of becoming aware of the Force Majeure provides written confirmation and reasonable evidence of the Force Majeure; and
  - (g) notifies the other Party when the Force Majeure has stopped.
- 40.2 In the event the Contractor does not supply the system or any part of the system or provide the Services or any part of the Services because it is relying on a Force Majeure event, the Price for the system or Services affected by a Force Majeure shall be proportionately reduced or waived to reflect the extent and standard to which the affected system or Services are being provided.

### 41. Effect of Suspension of Services for Force Majeure

- 41.1 To the extent that any Force Majeure affecting the Contractor results in the system not being supplied or any Services being suspended, whether or not described as such (which includes such Services being delivered to a level where they are of no significant commercial benefit to Customer or to a level substantially below the normal level of provision), then Customer may terminate this Agreement without any further liability.
- 41.2 Without prejudice to Clause 25.7 (Force Majeure), from the date of the Force Majeure affecting the Contractor, the Customer may require that any of the following options applies (and may change the option from time to time):
  - (a) The Customer will have no liability to pay the Price in respect of such element of the Solution or Services for the period of such suspension;
  - (b) The Customer may, without notice to the Contractor, exercise its step in rights under Clause 13 (Step In Rights) or itself procure, or direct the Contractor to, in which case the Contractor must use all reasonable endeavours to procure, the provision of such part of the Solution or Services from an alternative supplier approved by the Customer until cessation of the suspension; or
  - (c) The Customer may direct the Contractor to, in which case the Contractor must, provide such alternative services (during the period of the suspension) as will be calculated to reasonably minimise the disruption and losses suffered by Customer as a result of the suspension. Without prejudice to the foregoing, if the Contractor notifies the Customer that the Contractor cannot perform unaffected Services in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or the Specification, the Customer may in its discretion suspend the provision of such unaffected Services, in which case the Customer may treat those unaffected Services as affected Services for the purposes of this Clause 41.
- 41.3 The Party affected by the Force Majeure shall notify the other Party as soon as practicable after the Force Majeure ceases or no longer causes the Party affected not to be able to comply with its obligations under this Agreement. Following such notification and upon the Customer serving not less than five (5) calendar days but more than thirty (30) calendar days written notice, the Contractor shall re-commence supply of the Solution and/or provision of the Services in accordance with the terms of this Agreement as soon as reasonably practicable having regard to the nature of the Force Majeure. For the avoidance of doubt, the Customer shall not be liable for any costs in relation to the re-commencement of Services in accordance with this Clause 41.3. Where it is agreed by the Parties that the Contractor is no longer providing any part of the Solution or Service during the existence of the Force Majeure then the Contractor shall be entitled to deal with its Key Personnel assigned to the part of Solution or Services no longer provided as, it so wishes provided always that the Contractor shall maintain the availability of any Key Personnel for a period of one (1) month following the Force Majeure and that it can meet its obligations to recommence the provision of the Solution and Services when required by the Customer pursuant to this Clause 41.
- 41.4 At the option of the Customer, the Term may be extended by a period equal to any period during the original Term affected by the Force Majeure.

#### 42. **No Solicitation**

The Customer and the Contractor agree that from the Effective Date to twelve (12) months after the Expiry Date or earlier termination of the Agreement, they shall not solicit the employment of any of each other's people who have been directly associated with the establishment or performance of the Agreement, without the other Party's prior agreement in writing. The foregoing shall not apply to recruitment resulting:

- 42.1 from bona fide advertising in national daily newspapers;
- 42.2 by operation of law; or
- 42.3 from prior agreement of the Parties.

### 43. Warranties and Representations

- 43.1 The Contractor represents and warrants to the Customer that:
  - (a) it has full right, power and authority to supply the Solution and provide the Services to the Customer on the terms of this Agreement;
  - (b) title to the Solution will transfer to the Customer on a free and unencumbered basis;
  - (c) the use by the Customer of the Solution shall not infringe any Intellectual Property rights nor result in the breach of any licence;
  - (d) the supply of the Solution, the provision of the Services and the performance of its obligations under this Agreement by the Contractor will not infringe the Intellectual Property rights of the Customer or any third party, will not contravene any applicable Laws, and conforms with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
  - (e) the Solution and any Software, Hardware, Supplies or other materials (including spare parts) provided or made available by the Contractor to the Customer as part of the Solution shall be free of material errors, material viruses and material defects and shall be of good and merchantable quality, shall meet all performance requirements, and shall be fit for their intended purpose(s);
  - (f) it has obtained, and will during the Term obtain, all necessary authorisations, certificates, consents, approvals, licences, permits and registrations necessary to enable it to perform the Services and its other obligations under this Agreement;
  - (g) it will perform its obligations under this Agreement in accordance with Good Industry Practice;
  - (h) it will provide the Services in accordance with the Requirements and Specifications (Schedule 1), the Service Level Agreement (Schedule 3) and all relevant Lot Agreements (subject to the Service Credits regime hereunder where applicable, which shall be offset against any claim made under this warranty);
  - (i) it will ensure that, when complying with its obligations under this Agreement, it does not interfere with the activities of the Customer, its

- employees or agents in a manner not contemplated by the supply of the Solution or provision of the Services;
- (j) it is not, and will not during the Term, be in breach of any agreements necessary for the proper and efficient performance of the Services including any Third Party Software or Hardware Agreements;
- (k) it will not cause damage to real or personal property, injury to persons including injury resulting in death, or breach any leases or licences of the Customer Sites; and
- (l) it is not aware of any material facts or circumstances that have been disclosed to the Customer and which might, if disclosed, materially adversely affect the decision of a prudent person considering whether or not to enter into this Agreement with it.
- 43.2 The Customer warrants to the Contractor that it has obtained, and will during the Term obtain, all authorisations, certificates, consents, approvals, licences, permits and registrations required by law to enable it to perform its obligations under this Agreement.
- 43.3 All warranties shall, unless otherwise expressly stated, continue in full force and effect during the Term and shall survive termination.
- 43.4 The Parties agree that there shall be no duplication of claims for the same loss or damages under this Agreement incurred by any one Party (meaning, for the avoidance of doubt, that any Party is only permitted to pursue through the Customer a claim for its own loss or damage).
- 43.5 The Contractor shall ensure that any warranty, indemnity or other covenant received from any third party in connection with the Solution or Service is for the benefit of the Contractor or the Customer, as appropriate. The Contractor shall assign to the Customer, at the request of the Customer, the benefit of any such warranty, indemnity or other covenant and shall ensure that its full term commences from the date of acceptance of that part of the Solution to which such warranty, indemnity or other covenant applies.
- 43.6 Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, all warranties, terms and conditions, whether oral or written, express or implied by law, custom or otherwise including all warranties, terms and conditions of fitness for purpose, description and quality, are hereby excluded.

### 44. **Information and Audit**

- 44.1 The Contractor acknowledges that it is obliged to comply with a written request from the Customer for any information that the Customer considers material to the provision of the Solution. The Customer shall specify in any written request the information required and the reason for the request.
- 44.2 The Contractor shall establish and maintain at all times accurate, complete and up-todate records in order to comply with its obligations under this Agreement. This will include such records as are necessary in order to show clearly all enquiries, claims, settlements, payments, compensation, systems, processes and other proceedings relating to the Solution and/or Services and all other information relating to the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement which would be maintained by a

- prudent supplier in accordance with Good Industry Practice, including such information as may be required under applicable Laws.
- 44.3 On request from the Customer, the Contractor shall, at its own expense, ensure that its external auditors provide to the Customer, as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of the Contractor's financial year, confirmation that any statement supplied by the Contractor to the Customer pursuant to Clause 44.1 during that financial year is complete and accurate.
- 44.4 The Contractor shall, at its own expense and using its own equipment, store information reported and received by the Contractor from the Customer's employees and others in the course of performing the Agreement under this Agreement. The Contractor agrees that all reports, forms, records, files, data and other materials derived from such information and all updates and additions thereto are the exclusive property of the Customer. If the Customer wishes to request a data file transfer upon termination of this Agreement, the Contractor will arrange for such transfer on payment by the Customer of any reasonable costs involved based on format and size of data to be transferred.
- 44.5 The Contractor shall provide the Customer access to any information and documents which may be required to verify that the Solution has been supplied and that the Services are being provided in accordance with this Agreement and to verify that:
  - (a) the Price is accurate;
  - (b) the Contractor is exercising reasonable care to control Customer provided resources:
  - (c) the Services are being provided in accordance with the Service Levels; and
  - (d) the Contractor is complying with the security requirements and obligations as set out in this Agreement.
- 44.6 As the Customer is a publicly funded organisation it is therefore subject to routine internal audits and ad hoc queries arising from engagement with the Government Public Accounts Committee. The Contractor shall therefore, to the maximum extent possible, co-operate with all and any requests for information from the Customer, necessary for the Customer to satisfy its obligations in this regard.
- 44.7 The Contractor shall comply with scheduled financial audits of the Price required by the Customer. Should any review reveal that the Contractor has overcharged the Customer in any respect, the Contractor will promptly reimburse the Customer for the amount of any overcharge, together with interest thereon at the late payment rate set out in Clause 7 (Price) from the date on which overpayment was made until the date of reimbursement, as well as the additional cost of the audit arising in connection with investigating the overcharge.

### 44.8 **Other Information Obligations**

- (a) The Contractor will co-operate with the Customer in its monitoring and audit relationships and assist the Customer with regard to its obligations to other third parties (including HIQA, the Comptroller and Auditor General, etc.).
- (b) The Contractor will co-operate with the Customer in providing relevant information to appropriate and authorised sources within the health sector and

provide the Customer with a copy of the information supplied to such sources.

44.9 The provisions of this Clause 44 shall continue to apply for the appropriate retention periods specified by law or in such policies as may be specified by the Customer to the Contractor notwithstanding the termination of this Agreement for any reason and notwithstanding the completion of the performance of the Contractor's obligations hereunder.

#### 44.10 Failure to Provide Information

The Contractor acknowledges that:

- (a) in order to achieve accurate forecasting, activity monitoring and prompt and accurate funding of health and personal social services, there needs to be timely, regular exchange of detailed and accurate information; and
- (b) the Customer is obliged to properly account for the expenditure of funding provided by the Exchequer.

Accordingly, if any information required pursuant to statute or the provisions of this Agreement is withheld by the Contractor without the prior written consent of the Customer, the Customer may (in its sole and absolute discretion), having given not less than fourteen (14) days written notice to the Contractor, withhold payment of any part of the Price until such time as the required information is supplied.

### 45. Corrupt Gifts and Payments

- 45.1 The Contractor shall not offer or give or agree to give any person employed or engaged directly or indirectly by the Customer, any gift or consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward for doing or forbearing to do, or for having done, or forborne to do any act in relation to the obtaining or performance of this Agreement or any other agreement with the Customer (or any of them) or for showing or forbearing to show favour or disfavour to any person in relation to this Agreement and/or any matter referred to in it.
- 45.2 The Contractor shall procure that none of its contractors, employees, sub-contractors or agents do anything that would be a breach of Customer Policies set out at Clause 22 (Customer Policies).
- 45.3 In the event of any breach of this Clause 45 by the Contractor or by its employees, sub-contractors or agents (whether with or without the knowledge of the Contractor) or the committing of any offence by the Contractor or any of their employees, sub-contractors or agents acting on their behalf under any prevention of corruption legislation or regulations in relation to this or any other agreement, the Customer may summarily terminate this Agreement by notice in writing to the Contractor provided always that such a termination will not prejudice or affect any right or action which may have accrued or shall accrue thereafter to the Customer and provided further that the Customer may recover from the Contractor and the Contractor shall pay to the Customer on demand, all loss, damage, costs and expenses arising from such a termination..

### 46. No Partnership and No Agency

- Agreement shall constitute, or be deemed to constitute, a partnership, association, joint venture or other co-operative entity between any of the Parties.
- 46.2 Nothing in this Agreement and no action taken by the Parties pursuant to this Agreement shall constitute, or be deemed to constitute, any Party as the agent of any other Party for any purpose. Neither Party has, pursuant to this Agreement, any authority or power to bind or to contract in the name of the other Party to this Agreement.

### 47. Announcements and Publicity

- 47.1 Neither Party will make any announcement relating to this Agreement or its subject matter without the prior written approval of the other Party except as required by law or by any legal or regulatory authority in which case it shall notify the other Party of the announcement as soon as is reasonably practicable.
- 47.2 The Contractor shall only offer the Customer as a client reference to any prospective client in accordance with such terms as shall be agreed with the Customer.

### 48. Costs and Expenses

Each Party shall pay its own costs, charges and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation, preparation and completion of this Agreement.

#### 49. **Entire Agreement**

49.1 This Agreement sets out the entire agreement and understanding between the Parties in respect of the subject matter of this Agreement.

### 49.2 It is agreed that:

- (a) no Party has entered into this Agreement in reliance upon any representation, warranty or undertaking of the other Party which is not expressly set out in this Agreement;
- (b) no Party shall have any remedy in respect of misrepresentation or untrue statement made by the other Party or for any breach of warranty which is not contained in this Agreement; and
- (c) this Clause 49 shall not exclude any liability for, or remedy in respect of, fraudulent misrepresentation.

### 50. Change Control

- All changes must be agreed in writing by the Customer and by a duly authorised Representative of the Contractor and managed in accordance with Schedule 5 (Change Control Procedures).
- 50.2 The Customer reserves the right to amend this Agreement should there be a change in legislation or an order of a Government Minister necessitating such amendment and, subject to Clause 50.3 below, the Contractor shall be bound by such amendment for the Term of this Agreement.

50.3 The Parties agree to discuss in good faith and on a strictly without prejudice basis, any adjustment to the Price required or desirable to take account of any change in law, direction or requirements (in each case not at the date hereof required or in force) that causes a demonstrated material increase or decrease in costs to the Contractor and as they relate to the provision of the Solution. The Parties shall as far as practicable co-operate to seek to mitigate the effects of such a change.

### 51. Validity

If any provision of this Agreement is held by any competent authority to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable in whole or part, the validity of the other provisions of this Agreement and the remainder of the provision in question shall not be affected thereby.

#### 52. Waiver

- 52.1 The failure of either Party to insist upon strict performance of any provision of this Agreement, or the failure of either Party to exercise any right or remedy to which it is entitled hereunder, shall not constitute a waiver thereof and shall not cause a diminution of the obligations established by this Agreement.
- 52.2 A waiver of any Default shall not constitute a waiver of any subsequent Default.
- 52.3 No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is expressly stated to be a waiver and communicated to the other Party in writing in accordance with the provisions of Clause 36 (Notices and Communications).

#### 53. Further Assurance

Either Party shall, from time to time on request, do or procure the doing of all acts and/or the execution of all documents in a form satisfactory to the other Party which the other Party may reasonably consider necessary for giving full effect to this Agreement and securing to the other Party the full benefit of the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon it in or by this Agreement.

#### 54. **Remedies**

Except as otherwise expressly provided by the Agreement, all remedies available to the Contractor or the Customer for breach of this Agreement are cumulative and may be exercised concurrently or separately. The exercise of any one remedy shall not be deemed an election of such remedy to the exclusion of other remedies.

### 55. Supremacy of Agreement Over Schedules

Save where the relevant Service Level Agreement provides otherwise (in which case the Service Level Agreement shall prevail), if there is any conflict between the terms in the body of this Agreement and the schedules, then the terms in the body of this Agreement shall prevail.

### 56. Counterparts

- 56.1 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and by the Parties on separate counterparts, but shall not be effective until each Party has executed at least one counterpart.
- 56.2 Each counterpart shall constitute an original of this Agreement, but all the counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

### 57. Extent of Liability

- 57.1 The Customer has no liability to the Contractor in connection with this Agreement or the Solution (whether for breach of Agreement, breach of duty, including statutory duty, or any other duty, negligence, or anything else) except that stated in this Agreement.
- 57.2 The Contractor acknowledges that any breach by it of this Agreement may cause financial losses to the Customer not only directly but by liability to others, and acknowledges that it will be liable for those losses.

### 58. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

- 58.1 This Agreement and the relationship between the Parties shall be governed by, and interpreted in accordance with, Irish law.
- Each of the Parties agree that the courts of Ireland are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute (including claims for set off and counterclaims) which may arise in connection with the creation, validity, effect, interpretation or performance of, or the legal relationships established by, this Agreement or otherwise arising in connection with this Agreement and for such purposes irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of the Irish courts.

### 59. Social Responsibility

- 59.1 The Contractor must, in the performance of the Agreement, observe the requirements and standards of any international conventions, covenants and agreements to which Ireland is a signatory or contracting party and which may be directly effective and justiciable in Ireland.
- 59.2 The Contractor will be expected to adopt, embrace, support and implement in so far as these may impinge on the performance of his duties and obligations under the Agreement, the ten principles of the United Nation's Global Compact covering human rights, labour standards, the environment and anti-corruption.
- 59.3 The Contractor shall pay rates of wages and observe hours and conditions of labour not less favourable than those established in the trade or industry in the district where the Agreement is carried out and whether by agreement, machinery of negotiation or arbitration through organisations of employers and trade unions representatives respectively (of substantial proportions of employers and workers engaged in the trade or industry in the district) hereinafter referred to as "established rates and conditions" or, failing such established rates and conditions in the trade or industry in the district, established rates and conditions in other districts where the trade or industry is carried on under similar general circumstances.
- In the absence of any such agreement or established rates and conditions as described in Clause 59.3 above the Contractor shall pay rates and wages and observe hours and other conditions of labour not less favourable than those which would be considered within the bounds of industry norms and verifiable by an independent third party assessor appointed by the Customer.
- 59.5 The Contractor must ensure that the employers of all the Contractor's People do all of the following:
  - (a) pay all wages and other money due to each work person;

- (b) ensure that the Contractor's People's wages are paid in accordance with the Payment of Wages Act 1991 and are never more than one (1) month in arrears or unpaid;
- (c) pay all pension contributions and other amounts due to be paid on behalf of each of the Contractor's People;
- (d) make all deductions from payments to work persons required by law, and pay them on as required by law;
- (e) keep proper records (including time sheets copies of pay slips) showing the wages and other sums paid to and the time worked by each of the Contractor's People, deductions including pension and other contributions made in respect of the Contractor's People;
- (f) respect the right under law of the Contractor's People to be members of trade unions; and
- (g) observe, in relation to the employment of the Contractor's People on Customer Sites, the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act 2005, and all employment law including the Employment Equality Act 1998, the Industrial Relations Acts 1946 to 2012, the National Minimum Wage Act 2000 and regulations, codes of practice, legally binding determinations of the Labour Court and registered employment agreements under those laws.
- 59.6 If the Customer so requests, the Contractor must, within five (5) Working Days after the request, provide evidence of compliance with Clause 59.5 above.
- 59.7 The Customer may seek information under the provisions of this Clause 59 only for the purpose of ensuring the obligations described in this Clause 59 to the Contractor's People have been properly discharged. All information provided under the provisions of this Clause 59 will be returned or destroyed if the Customer is satisfied that the Contractor has complied with its legal obligations to the Contractor's People.
- 59.8 If the Contractor has not complied with this Clause 59, the Customer may (without limiting its other rights or remedies) withhold the estimated amount required for compliance from any payment due to the Contractor, until such time as the Customer is satisfied that the employees have been paid correctly and the Contractor is in compliance.
- 59.9 If the Contractor does not comply with this Clause 59, it must pay to the Customer any costs the Customer incurs in investigating and dealing with the non-compliance.

#### **PART TWO**

### **CONFIDENTIALITY**

This Part Two applies to the treatment of information obtained during all procurements, regardless of whether they are for Solutions, Services or Supplies. This Part Two is in addition, and without prejudice, to Clause 18 (Customer Data) of Part 1 of this Agreement.

60. In respect of confidentiality, the Contractor shall comply with the provisions of the prevailing version of our Standard Terms and Conditions Confidentiality Agreement Clauses, as at the date of this Agreement, published on <a href="https://www.hse.ie">www.hse.ie</a> at the following location:

 $\frac{http://www.hse.ie/eng/services/publications/pp/ict/HSE-Service-Provider-Confidentiality-Agreement-v3-0.pdf$ 

#### **PART THREE**

#### SERVICES CONTRACT CLAUSES

This Part Three applies only if the Customer is procuring Services

#### 61. **Performance of Services**

Without limitation to any other obligations, the Contractor must provide all Services with the skill, care, diligence, efficiency, qualifications, experience and professional conduct which ought reasonably to be expected from a Contractor with responsibility for delivering such services.

#### 62. **Provision of Services**

- 62.1 The Services comprise some or all of the following elements:
  - (a) Professional Services to address Customer requirements as set out in the Requirements and Specifications; and
  - (b) Professional Services that enable the Contractor to address the specific requirements and performance criteria as set out in Schedule 3 (Service Level Agreement) and associated Lot Agreements(s).

Specific service level requirements as stated in the Service Level Agreement (Schedule 3) must be considered by the Contractor as being in addition to any such requirements as stated within the Requirement and Specifications and elsewhere in this Agreement.

- 62.2 Unless expressly stated in this Agreement, the Customer gives no guarantee and accepts no liability for the volume of the Services which may be ordered by the Customer from the Contractor.
- 62.3 In the event that the Contractor fails to perform the Services in accordance with the Service Levels, then the provisions of Clause 63 (Service Levels and Service Credits) shall apply.

#### 63. Service Levels and Service Credits

- 63.1 Without prejudice to Clause 61 (Performance of Services), the Contractor shall ensure the Services meet the Service Levels set out in the Service Level Agreement or such other standards as may be set out in a Service Level Agreement. The Contractor acknowledges that its failure to meet Service Levels, or any Persistent Failure, may have a material adverse impact on the business and operations of the Customer.
- 63.2 If the Contractor fails to meet Service Levels, the Contractor shall, without prejudice to the Customer's other rights and remedies:
  - (a) pay the appropriate amount under the Service Credits regime under the Service Level Agreement;
  - (b) promptly investigate the underlying causes of the failure to meet the Service Levels and prepare and deliver to the Customer a report on the causes as soon as possible and in any event within seven (7) calendar days of the Contractor becoming aware of the failure arising or receiving notice of such failure from the Customer, whichever is earlier;

- (c) take whatever action is necessary to minimise the impact of the failure and to correct the causes of the failure and advise the Customer of the status of the remedial actions within seven (7) calendar days of submitting the report in accordance with Clause 63.2(b) above; and
- (d) indicate the amount (if any) payable under the Service Credits regime under the Service Level Agreement as a result of the failure to meet Service Levels on the next invoice submitted to the Customer.

#### 64. **Professional Services**

### 64.1 **Contractor's People**

The Contractor's People shall:

- (a) conduct the provision of the professional services (the "**Professional Services**") in the English language; and
- (b) conduct themselves professionally at all times and where appropriate, in accordance with Customer working practices and Customer Policies.

### 64.2 **Professional Services Account Manager**

The Contractor shall assign a Professional Services account manager with responsibility for delivery of the Professional Services and for liaising with the Customer Representative.

### 64.3 Office and Computer Facilities

The Customer shall provide the Contractor free of charge with such office and computer facilities at the Customer Sites as may be agreed between the Parties' Representatives as necessary to enable the Contractor perform the Professional Services. The Contractor recognises that the foregoing facilities shall be provided on a non-exclusive basis. Where any conflict in requirements for shared facilities prevents the Contractor from performing the Professional Services, then, the Contractor shall notify the Customer and the Customer shall take such corrective action as it deems reasonably necessary.

#### 64.4 Customer Sites

- (a) Prior to commencement of the provision of the Professional Services, the Contractor shall satisfy itself that the Customer Sites are suitable for the provision of the Professional Services, or, alternatively, shall advise the Customer in writing of any matter or element of the Customer Sites which are inadequate or unsuitable for provision of the Professional Services.
- (b) The Contractor shall not be entitled to recover any additional costs from the Customer in respect of any matter or element of the Customer Sites which has not been notified to the Customer in accordance with Clause 64.4(a) above. The Contractor shall at all times minimise disruption with the business and administrative affairs of the Customer while present at the Customer Sites.
- 64.5 The Customer shall remain responsible for compliance with the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act, 2005 affecting the Customer Sites.

#### 64.6 Payment for Professional Services

In relation to the various pricing methodologies included within the Price set out in Schedule 2 (Payment Schedule), for the provision of the Professional Services the Parties agree that:

- (a) where the Price is based on a daily rate basis, then, where the Contractor's People work at weekends or outside the Working Day, such work shall be separately chargeable, in accordance with Schedule 2 (Payment Schedule). No payments will apply in respect of the agreed non-chargeable additional hours set out in the Contractor's Tender;
- (b) where the Price is based on a daily rate basis (or a daily rate basis subject to an agreed cap), then, the Contractor's People shall complete timesheets on a weekly basis, or such lesser period as agreed between the Parties, which shall be signed-off by the Customer Representative. The Contractor shall report to the Customer at the regular review meetings on the hours of work of the Contractor's People in the preceding period. The Contractor shall provide reasonable and necessary additional information to Customer in the event of any Customer queries in relation to the Contractor's People's timesheets or hours of work:
- (c) The Customer shall not be liable for payments in respect of time spent by the Contractor's People other than in the provision of the Services. The foregoing shall include time spent by the Contractor's People on holiday leave, sick leave, maternity leave or other statutory or contractual leave, attending Contractor internal review meetings, or training courses. In this regard, the Contractor shall report to the Customer at each review meeting on the scheduled absence of the Contractor's People from the provision of the Professional Services in the next following period. The Contractor (other than where absence is unavoidable and/or outside the Contractor's control) shall not authorise absence of the Contractor's People, save as notified to the Customer aforesaid, and the Customer shall not, in any event, be liable for payments in respect of such absences; and
- (d) where the Price in respect of Professional Services set out in the Payment Schedule are based on time and materials, in the event that the Customer wishes to revise the number of Contractor's People allocated to the provision of those Services, then, the Customer shall provide the Contractor with not less than fourteen (14) days prior written notice of the particular Contractor's People to be removed from performance of the Services. In such event, the Parties' Representatives shall promptly, following receipt of the Customer notice, commence good faith negotiations with a view to agreeing revisions to the Price, if applicable, following removal of such Contractor's People. In the event that the Parties' Representatives fail to agree the matter, within fourteen (14) days of commencement of negotiations then the matter shall be determined in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.

### 64.7 **Training Services**

To the extent that training services (the "**Training Services**") are included within the Professional Services:

(a) the Contractor shall provide the Training Services in accordance with the provisions of the training plan set out or as stated within the Requirements and Specifications and applicable Lot Agreements; and

- (b) the Contractor shall conduct a satisfaction survey in a format agreed between the Parties, following each training course, as set out in the training plan. The Contractor shall endeavour to maintain the results of such surveys at a level deemed acceptable by the Customer and shall provide statistical extracts there for regular review by the Customer.
- (c) The Contractor acknowledges that the Training Services shall include an obligation on the Contractor to undertake a transfer of skills and knowledge to the recipients of the training, to the extent reasonably possible, having regard to the suitability of the candidates for training. The Parties' Representatives shall co-operate in order to maximise the achievement of this outcome.

### 65. Technical Support and Maintenance Services

65.1 In the event the Contractor fails to perform the Technical Support and Maintenance Services in accordance with the Service Levels then the provisions of Clause 63 (Service Levels and Service Credits) shall apply.

### **PART FOUR**

#### SUPPLIES CONTRACT CLAUSES

This Part Four applies only if the Customer is procuring Supplies.

### 66. **Delivery of Supplies**

- 66.1 The Contractor shall deliver the Supplies on the date and to the location notified to the Contractor by the Customer and shall be responsible for the proper delivery of the Supplies.
- 66.2 If the Agreement is for multiple, unspecified, deliveries, the Customer shall, when it requires a delivery to be made during the period of the Agreement, send the Contractor written notification of the quantity of Supplies and the date, time and place of delivery and the Contractor shall deliver those Supplies on the date so specified.
- 66.3 If the Agreement does not specify the quantity of Supplies to be provided by the Contractor, the Customer does not provide any guarantee regarding the quantity of Supplies that will be required over the Term.
- 66.4 The Contractor shall provide such packaging of Supplies as is required to prevent their damage or deterioration in transit.
- 66.5 The Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining any import licences, permits or other Necessary Consents for the importation and delivery of Supplies and shall produce evidence of same if requested to do so by the Customer.
- 66.6 The Contractor shall indemnify and hold the Customer harmless against and from all claims, suits and actions for damages, losses and expenses resulting from the transport of the Supplies and shall negotiate and pay all claims arising from their transportation.

### 67. **Partial Delivery**

Partial delivery of an Official Purchase Order shall not be made without the prior written consent of the Customer.

67.2 In case of partial delivery, all packages etc., advice notes, packing notes and invoices must be clearly marked "Partial Delivery".

### 68. Risk and Title

- 68.1 Title in the Supplies shall pass on delivery to and acceptance by the Customer unless payment is made prior to delivery, in which event, title shall pass to the Customer once payment has been made. Where title in the Supplies has passed to the Customer prior to delivery pursuant to this condition the Contractor shall keep such Supplies separate from other Supplies and shall clearly mark the Supplies as the property of the Customer.
- 68.2 Notwithstanding the provisions of this Clause 68, risk of damage to or loss of the Supplies shall, unless otherwise agreed between the Parties, remain with the Contractor until delivery, acceptance and commissioning of the Supplies to the Customer in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and, in particular, Clause 73 (Defective Supplies) hereof.

### 69. **Timing**

- 69.1 Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Customer the Contractor shall deliver the Supplies on the delivery date specified by the Customer or where no delivery date is specified, within ninety (90) days from date of order.
- 69.2 Without prejudice to Part Five (Software and Hardware), the Supplies shall be delivered to the delivery address specified by the Customer during the Customer's usual business hours.

### 70. Packing, Marking and Documentation

- All packages, cases, pallets and other containers must be clearly and individually marked with the Customer name, and clearly state the Official Purchase Order number and product codes. The following shall appear on the outside of each pack:
  - (a) a description of the Supplies;
  - (b) the quantity contained in each pack;
  - (c) storage and/or handling instructions;
  - (d) expiry date of contents, if applicable; and
  - (e) relevant materials safety information, if applicable.
- A note must be included in each package stating the Official Purchase Order number, quantities and description of items contained in each box; the product codes (stated on the Official Purchase Order), the delivery date and the delivery address.
- 70.3 The Customer may (unless otherwise agreed in writing) require the Contractor to dispose, at the Contractor's cost, of all packaging materials. Failure by the Contractor to effect disposal within fourteen (14) days of delivery shall entitle the Customer to arrange disposal with another supplier and any costs incurred by the Customer in effecting disposal of packaging shall be paid by the Contractor to the Customer or set off against any monies owed to the Contractor pursuant to Clause 9 (Debts to the Customer).

### 71. **Returns**

The Customer accepts no liability in regard to the satisfactory return to the Contractor of any consignment or part of a consignment delivered in error.

### 72. Quality of Supplies

The Contractor warrants that the Supplies will:

- 72.1 correspond with their description;
- 72.2 be equal in all respects to any samples provided;
- 72.3 comply with any technical specification and any other requirements of this Agreement;
- be capable of any standard of performance specified by the Customer, but in any event shall be of merchantable quality;
- be fit for any particular purpose made known to the Contractor by the Customer either expressly or by implication;
- 72.6 shall not have any defect arising from design, materials or workmanship; and
- 72.7 be subject to the manufacturer's warranty.

### 73. **Defective Supplies**

- 73.1 If any Supplies are found to be defective or otherwise not in accordance with the Agreement, or the Contractor has failed to deliver on time, or the Customer has notified the Contractor of a shortage of Supplies or damage to the Supplies and has given the Contractor all reasonable opportunity to remedy, the Customer may:
  - (a) require the Contractor, at the Contractor's expense, to fulfil its obligations in all respects within fourteen days or such other period as is specified by the Customer;
  - (b) terminate the Agreement (in full or in part) and the Contractor shall refund any part of the Price which has been paid in respect of the defective, late or undelivered Supplies;
  - (c) purchase substitute Supplies elsewhere;
  - (d) at the Contractor's risk and expense, return any Supplies already supplied under the Agreement;
  - (e) recover from the Contractor any direct, indirect and/or consequential losses, cost and liabilities incurred by the Customer (including the costs of any replacement Supplies);
  - (f) reject the Supplies by giving notice to the Contractor, with reasons; and/or
  - (g) require the Contractor to promptly replace defective Supplies.
- 73.2 The Customer right of rejection shall continue irrespective of whether the Customer has accepted, inspected, used or paid for, the Supplies.

- 73.3 The whole of any consignment of Supplies may be rejected by the Customer if a reasonable sample of the Supplies taken randomly from the consignment is found not to conform substantially with the requirements of the Agreement.
- 73.4 The Customer shall be under no obligation to accept or pay for any Supplies delivered in excess of the quantity ordered.
- 73.5 If the Customer elects not to accept such over-delivered Supplies it shall be entitled to give notice in writing to the Contractor to remove them within seven (7) days of receipt by the Contractor of such notice and to refund to the Customer any expenses incurred by the Customer as a result of such over-delivery (including the costs of moving and storing them) failing which the Customer shall be entitled to dispose of such Supplies and to charge the Contractor for the costs of such disposal.
- 73.6 The risk in any over-delivered Supplies shall remain with the Contractor until they are collected by or on behalf of the Contractor or disposed of or purchased by the Customer, as appropriate.
- 73.7 In the event that a product recall or defect notice is issued by the manufacturer or a medical device regulatory body in any country in relation to the Supplies, the Contractor shall notify the Customer of the said recall or defect within five (5) days of the earliest recall or defect notice.

### 74. Supply of Documents

To ensure the Customer can receive the full benefit from the provision of supplies, the Contractor shall supply to the Customer the latest versions of all supporting documentation which relate to the supplies e.g. user manuals, operational instructions, technical drawings, service manuals, maintenance specifications etc.. or as otherwise agreed with the Customer at time of order, written in the English language.

### 75. **Inspection and Samples**

- 75.1 The Customer may at all reasonable times during manufacture, assembly or processing inspect and test the Supplies (including all designs, materials and other components).
- 75.2 If required by the Customer, samples of Supplies shall be submitted, at the Contractor's cost and expense, to the Customer for evaluation and approval.

### 76. After Sales Service

Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the Contractor shall:

- supply to the Customer spare parts necessary for the Supplies at a reasonable cost, not exceeding that charged under like circumstances to other customers of the Contractor;
- authorise the Customer to negotiate with and purchase spare parts for the Supplies directly from providers to the Contractor;
- 76.3 provide the Supplies free of any restrictions or impediments, which may exist between the Contractor and its providers; and
- 76.4 maintain sufficient stock levels so as to be in a position to meet the Customer's requirements for Supplies as notified to the Contractor prior to signing this Agreement.

#### **PART FIVE**

#### **SOFTWARE**

This Part Five applies only if the Customer is procuring Software - Contractor Software, Commissioned Software, Configured Software and 3<sup>rd</sup> Part Software.

### 77. Customer Software

Customer Software is and shall remain the property of the Customer.

#### 78. **Contractor Software**

- 78.1 The Contractor may not use open source software in the provision of the Services without the Customer's prior written consent.
- 78.2 In consideration of the Price due and owing to the Contractor by the Customer, the Contractor hereby grants to the Customer an irrevocable, fully paid-up, non-exclusive sub-licensable perpetual royalty free licence to use the Contractor Software for any purpose relating to the Solution or to exercise the Customer's business including to grant sub-licences to other Customer funded organisations, its successors and assigns and to any replacement of the Contractor. The Customer confirms that the licence granted hereunder shall not entitle it to commercially exploit the Contractor Software.
- 78.3 Perpetual licenses for Contractor Software must also cover data dictionaries and all other associated constructs or components upon which the Solution depends.
- 78.4 The Customer may make such copies of the Contractor Software as they may reasonably require or direct the Contractor to provide such copies to the Customer.
- 78.5 Unless otherwise stated within the Requirements and Specifications (Schedule 1), Service Level Agreement (Schedule 3) or associated Lot Agreement(s) and for the avoidance of doubt, there is no limit on the number of users of the Contractor Software and licences provided for in this Agreement.
- 78.6 The Contractor shall procure that all agreements entered into after the Effective Date relating to maintenance and support of Contractor Software necessary for maintaining the performance of the Solution shall remain in force for the Term.
- 78.7 To the extent that Contractor Software shall include Third Party Software which it is not commercially possible for the Contractor to licence and/or sub licence in accordance with Clause 78.2 above, the Contractor shall notify the Customer of any issues in this regard prior to supplying that Third Party Software as part of the Contractor Software. In such circumstances, the Customer may at its option agree to accept a licence/sub licence of the Third Party Software on terms that are notified to it by the Contractor, provided always that those terms shall entitle the Customer to enjoy the benefit of the Contractor Software as envisaged by Clause 78.2 above on terms that are broadly equivalent to those, or, direct that the Contractor procure alternative Third Party Software on terms that are to the Customer's satisfaction.
- 78.8 The Customer shall be entitled to copy the Contractor Software in order to create a reasonable number of archival and back-up copies thereof in accordance with normal backup procedures or direct the Contractor to provide such copies to the Customer.
- 78.9 The Customer shall be entitled to engage a third party to provide certain managed Services in respect of the Contractor Software on behalf of the Customer, including full or partial use thereof, subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions

- of the applicable provisions of this Agreement, provided that, such third party shall have entered into a confidentiality undertaking to the Contractor in terms no less onerous than set out in Part 2 (Confidentiality Agreement Clauses) of this Agreement.
- 78.10 Failure of the Customer to enter into, or maintain, support and maintenance contracts with the Contractor will not impact the right of the Customer to the perpetual licence(s) associated with any software or configuration provided. The Customer will continue to have the right to use, access, and if necessary, either itself or via a third party, maintain and support the application.
- 78.11 Change in the ownership of the Contractor will in no way diminish the rights of the Customer to the perpetual licence or the right of the Customer for continued use of the software associated with said licence.
- 78.12 Any and all accrued rights in relation to licences will continue to the benefit of the Customer regardless of whether the Term expires naturally or suspension or termination clauses are invoked. In such circumstances, the Customer will continue to have the right to use, access, and if necessary, either itself or via a third party, maintain and support the application.

### 79. Commissioned Software

- 79.1 Commissioned Software refers to Software that has been developed specifically for the Customer based on the provision of requirements, specifications and subsequent information sharing and communications associated with the development of the Solution. In such circumstances and where required, pursuant to the Requirements and Specifications, the Contractor shall develop the Software ("Commissioned" shall be construed accordingly), in accordance with the requirements of:
  - (a) the Requirements and Specifications;
  - (b) the Software Specifications;
  - (c) reasonable instructions of the Customer provided in accordance with this Agreement; and
  - (d) in accordance with the Service Level Agreement (Schedule 3) and/or applicable Lot Agreement(s).
- 79.2 The Commissioned Software shall provide the functions and offer the facilities set out in the Requirements and Specifications and associated Software Specifications, as appropriate, and shall fulfil the performance criteria in all material respects.
- 79.3 Title to Commissioned Software shall vest in the Customer on creation and the Contractor assigns by present assignment of future rights all rights in and to Commissioned Software to the Customer with unencumbered title.
- 79.4 The Customer hereby licences the Contractor to use Commissioned Software solely for the provision of the Solution in accordance with Clause 19 (Intellectual Property Rights) during the Term. On termination, this licence shall also terminate and the Contractor shall stop using Commissioned Software and shall promptly deliver to the Customer all copies of it in its possession or under its control.
- 79.5 In the event that the Contractor wishes to use the Commissioned Software other than to perform the Agreement under this Agreement, the Customer shall (unless the Customer determines, acting reasonably that the grant of such a licence would

conflict with the Solution or the Customer's requirements) grant a non-exclusive licence to the Contractor for the Commissioned Software on terms to be agreed by the Parties.

79.6 The Contractor shall, upon creation and update, deliver one (1) copy of the Source Materials for Commissioned Software to the Customer and shall, during the Term, keep up-to-date versions of the Source Materials for the Commissioned Software and shall as a separate obligation provide an up-to-date copy of the latest versions of such Source Materials on termination.

### 80. **Configured Software**

- 80.1 Configured Software refers to Software which exists and/or has been designed and developed with the intention of being configured to meet the specific requirements. In such circumstances and where required, pursuant to the Requirements and Specifications, the Contractor shall develop /configure the Software (the "Configuration", and "Configured" shall be construed accordingly), in accordance with the requirements of:
  - (a) the Requirements and Specifications;
  - (b) the Software Specifications;
  - (c) reasonable instructions of the Customer provided in accordance with this Agreement; and
  - (d) in accordance with the Service Level Agreement (Schedule 3) and/or relevant Lot Agreement(s).
- 80.2 The Configured/developed Software shall provide the functions and offer the facilities set out in the Requirements and Specifications and associated Software Specifications, as appropriate, and shall fulfil the performance criteria in all material respects.
- 80.3 Title to the Configuration shall vest in the Customer on creation and the Contractor assigns by present assignment of future rights all rights in and to the Configuration to the Customer with unencumbered title.
- 80.4 The Customer hereby licences the Contractor to use the Configuration solely for the provision of the Solution in accordance with Clause 19 (Intellectual Property Rights) during the Term. On termination, this licence shall also terminate and the Contractor shall stop using the Configuration and shall promptly deliver to the Customer all copies of it in its possession or under its control.
- In the event that the Contractor wishes to use the Configuration other than to perform the Agreement under this Agreement, the Customer may grant a non-exclusive licence to the Contractor for the Configuration on terms to be agreed by the Parties.
- 80.6 The Contractor shall, upon creation and update, deliver one (1) copy of the Source Materials for the Configuration to the Customer and shall, during the Term, keep upto-date versions of the Source Materials for the Configuration and shall as a separate obligation provide an up-to-date copy of the latest versions of such Source Materials on termination.

- 80.7 The Contractor shall keep the Customer advised of variations and additions thereto, included within new releases or versions of the Software, provided by the Contractor pursuant to the deployment, support and maintenance of the Solution.
- 80.8 The Customer may, during the period of Software development/configuration, in accordance with the Requirements and Specifications, require the Contractor in writing to make variations or amendments thereto. The variations or amendments shall be agreed between the Parties by way of the Change Control Procedure.

### 80.9 Third Party Software

- (a) The Contractor may not use Third Party Software to perform the Agreement other than:
  - (i) Third Party Software listed in the Contractor's Tender; or
  - (ii) with the prior written consent of the Customer (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed, or subject to unreasonable conditions).
- (b) Unless otherwise agreed, after the Effective Date, the Contractor shall ensure that all Third Party Software Agreements relating to the Software listed in the Contractor's Tender shall be entered into in Customer's name or, to the extent this is not achievable, procure the benefit to Customer of such Third Party Software Agreements. The terms and conditions of those agreements shall be subject to the Customer's prior written consent and shall entitle the Customer and its employees and contractors to benefit from the use of Third Party Software as required. At a minimum, the Contractor shall be responsible for the amounts payable to Third Parties under such Third Party Software Agreements.
- (c) For the purposes of this Agreement, Third Party Software also includes embedded Software upon which Hardware supplied by the Contractor depends.
- (d) The Customer shall notify the Contractor of the terms of any material Third Party Software Agreements entered into by it in force on the Effective Date (to the extent permissible under any confidentiality obligations under those agreements) and the Contractor shall use best endeavours to procure, at the Customer's option, and at the Contractor's expense, any Necessary Consents to make use of the Third Party Software by the Contractor to perform the Agreement.
- (e) The Contractor may not enter into any Third Party Software Agreement without the Customer's prior written consent. Where the Contractor proposes to enter into any Third Party Software Agreement after the Effective Date it shall first consult with the Customer with a view to reaching mutual agreement. In the event any Third Party Software Agreement is required by the relevant third party to be in the name of the Contractor, the Contractor may, subject to the consent of the Customer, enter into it provided that it shall be terminable (by the Customer only) and/or transferable at the Customer's option to the Customer or an incoming supplier at no additional charge and on the same terms and conditions on termination without restriction. The Contractor shall not place itself or the Customer in breach of Third Party Software Agreements.

- (f) The Contractor shall use reasonable endeavours to procure that the Source Materials for any Software licensed under a Third Party Software Agreement are placed in escrow on an industry standard tripartite escrow agreement. However, where the licensor of Third Party Software places the Source Code for the relevant Software in escrow in the normal course of its business the Contractor shall, at the Customer's request, procure that the Source Materials are placed in escrow with a company of the Customer's choosing, on an industry standard tripartite escrow agreement.
- (g) The Contractor shall provide information relating to known bugs in the Third Party Software available from the provider of the Third Party Software, prior to the date of delivery thereof;

### 81. Software Specification Development

- 81.1 The Contractor shall prepare Software Specifications in accordance with the Requirements and Specifications and shall deliver said specifications to the Customer for approval in accordance with the Timetable.
- During the development of Software Specifications, the Contractor shall keep the Customer advised of variations and additions thereto and shall discuss with the Customer any comments which the Customer may make upon the draft documentation.
- 81.3 In the event that the Customer requires amendments to the Software Specifications, which are outside the scope of the Requirements and Specifications, then, the Parties shall promptly commence good faith negotiations in order to agree such amendments together with suitable variations to the Timetable and/or the Price, within a period of thirty (30) days of the Customer written notification of the required amendments, in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.
- 81.4 Approval of Software Specifications shall be subject to the Acceptance Procedures.
- 81.5 Following approval of the Software Specifications, then the Customer may, at its sole option.
  - (a) authorise the Contractor to develop/configure the Software, based upon the Software Specifications; or
  - (b) notify the Contractor in writing of its decision to itself develop/configure the Software or
  - (c) alternatively, appoint a third party to develop/configure the Software, in which event the Contractor shall co-operate with the Customer and/or its alternative developer in order to ensure a smooth transfer of responsibility, know-how and delivery

provided that, where the Customer notifies the Contractor of its decision under Clause 81.5(b) above, the authorisation may be contingent upon the Services being provided by the Contractor's People engaged in the development of the applicable Software Specification.

### 81.6 **Software Acceptance**

- (a) In relation to the provision of Configured, Commissioned or Third Party Software, the Contractor shall, in accordance with the Timetable, deliver to the Customer:
  - (i) all Commissioned Software, Configuration and Third Party Software upon which the Solution depends, in object code form; and
  - (ii) the Source Code of each stage of the development of the Software or Configuration, together with the Source Code of the relevant existing Contractor materials in the electronic format agreed between the Parties, including all ancillary materials necessary to enable a reasonably skilled programmer to correct, modify and enhance such Software/Configuration without reference to any other person or In addition, at the conclusion of the Contractor's development work, the Contractor shall deliver the Source Code and ancillary materials in respect of the entirety of the Software or Configuration, together with the Source Code of the relevant existing Contractor materials. The Contractor's supply of the Source Code in respect of existing materials shall be subject to the provisions of any applicable restrictions in respect of Third Party Software notified to the Customer by the Contractor or as otherwise agreed by the Parties; and
  - (iii) copies of the test data and results of all in-house tests carried out by the Contractor on the Configuration prior to delivery of all Software and Configuration.
  - (iv) copies of all supporting information to include technical, training and end user documentation and manuals.
- (b) In relation to the provision of Contractor Software, the Contractor shall, in accordance with the Timetable, deliver to the Customer:
  - (i) all Contractor Software in object code form;
  - (ii) on request, copies of the test data and results of all in-house tests carried out by the Contractor on the Software prior to delivery; and
  - (iii) copies of all supporting information to include technical, training and end user documentation and manuals.
- (c) Following installation, Software shall be subject to the User Acceptance Tests and Acceptance Procedures. Payments for Software will be subject to a successful outcome from these procedures and formal acceptance of the Software or Configuration by the Customer.
- (d) For the period of engagement, the Contractor shall ensure that all documentation is kept at current release levels and available to all users.

#### 81.7 **Software Escrow**

At the election of the Customer, the Contractor may be directed by the Customer to place, within thirty (30) days of the date of the grant of licence set out in Clause 78.2 (Contractor Software), the Source Code of the Contractor Software, together with

associated design materials and documentation reasonably necessary in order to make proper use of the foregoing, in one or more escrow arrangements of the customers choosing, and shall, without delay, provide the Customer with copies of such relevant escrow arrangement(s), together with the confirmation document included therein, which the Customer may complete in order to register as a licensee or beneficiary thereunder. For the avoidance of doubt the foregoing reference to the Contractor Software shall include all subsequent releases and versions thereof, provided in accordance with the Services, which shall be lodged in escrow within thirty (30) days of their release date. The Customer shall be responsible for payment of escrow beneficiary costs to the third party provider of such escrow arrangement, and for reasonable set-up and verification type charges.

### 81.8 **Software Warranty**

The Contractor warrants and represents as follows, which shall apply in addition to those warranties set out in Clause 43 (Warranties and Representations) of the Agreement:

- (a) All Software and Configuration shall provide the functions and facilities set out in the Requirements and Specifications, Service Level Agreement (Schedule 3), relevant Lot Agreement(s), associated Software Specifications, and will fulfil the performance criteria, in both cases, in all material respects.
- (b) the User Documentation and the Training Services will provide adequate instruction to enable reasonably skilled and experienced personnel of the Customer to make proper use of the functions and facilities of the applicable element of the Software and Configuration;
- (c) the Contractor shall use Good Industry Practice to detect and delete commonly known viruses in all delivered Software, prior to the date of installation thereof; and
- (d) New versions, upgrades and new releases of the Contractor Software, Commissioned Software and Configuration shall be backward and forward compatible and shall not reduce the functionality or performance of the Software.

### 81.9 **Software User Documentation**

- (a) User Documentation shall consist of:
  - (i) in respect of Commissioned Software, Configuration and Contractor Software, the documentation set out in the Requirements and Specifications, Service Level Agreement (Schedule 3), relevant Lit Agreements(s) and associated Software Specifications;
  - (ii) in respect of the Third Party Software, the standard User Documentation, as provided to the Contractor by the third party service provider; and
- (b) User Documentation shall be provided in electronic format, where possible, in addition to such number of paper copies agreed between the Parties Representatives (subject to any applicable third party licence restrictions). The Customer may reprint User Documentation for the benefit of its users, subject only to any limitation set out in any applicable third party licence restrictions and without charge.

### 81.10 **Software Support**

- (a) The Contractor will be responsible for the support of all Software provided during development and implementation and, in the absence of a separate support contract, for a minimum period of 6 months thereafter.
- (b) Any additional Contractor responsibility for Software Support is defined by the Requirements and Specifications, the Service Level Agreement (Schedule 3) and the relevant Lot Agreement(s).

### 82. General Provisions Applicable to both Software and Hardware

- Where it is agreed that the Contractor may use Customer Hardware for the provision of the Solution, Customer Hardware is expressly provided as is.
- 82.2 The Contractor acknowledges that Hardware Agreements are in place at certain Customer Sites. The Contractor will co-operate at all times with the parties to those Hardware Agreements to ensure the proper implementation of the System and the provision of Services.
- 82.3 The Contractor shall maintain from the Effective Date and throughout the remainder of the Term, an up-to-date inventory of all Software and Hardware necessary for the provision of the Solution. The Contractor shall make such inventory available to the Customer (using pre-defined templates containing such details as are required by the Customer) on the Effective Date and shall update the inventory on a monthly basis (or such other basis as may be agreed in writing between the Contractor and the Customer) thereafter and at the Customer's request, provide a copy thereof to the Customer or as it may direct from time to time and on termination.
- 82.4 If this Agreement expressly states that the Solution will be provided using specific items of Software, Hardware, equipment, materials or consumables, the Contractor shall use them and shall ensure that Software and Hardware used for the Services are in versions approved by the Customer. The Contractor shall not change the applications listed in the Contractor's Tender (or the version of such applications) or the hardware on which the applications are running, without the Customer's prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed, or subject to unreasonable conditions).
- 82.5 The Contractor shall provide the Customer with full details of all Hardware, Software and system changes or upgrades scheduled to take place or which should take place during the Termination Period or six (6) months after termination, as well as details of any renewals or expiry of agreements that are to arise in the twenty-four (24) months after termination.
- 82.6 The Contractor shall manage all Software and Hardware used in the provision of the Solution in such a way that the Customer is able to exercise its rights under Clause 13 (Step In Rights).

#### **PART SIX**

### CONTRACT MANAGEMENT CLAUSES

This Part Six shall apply unless expressly excluded in the Official Purchase Order, Lot Agreement or Service Level Agreement.

### 83. Project Management and Service Delivery

- 83.1 The clauses in this Part 6 of the Agreement apply in circumstances where the Contractor is engaged in the delivery of a Solution in accordance with agreed milestones, Timetable, Term(s), Stage or Stages, Lots and/or Service Level Agreement(s). Such Solutions may include, for example:
  - (a) development of a Software, Hardware or systems solution;
  - (b) implementation of a Software, Hardware or systems solution;
  - (c) deployment of a Software, Hardware or systems solution on one or more Customer Sites;
  - (d) provision of Supplies in accordance with a specific timeline;
  - (e) provision of Technical Support and Maintenance Services;
  - (f) provision of Professional Services or
  - (g) any combination of the above.
- 83.2 Contracts may be managed via a single Lot or multiple Lots that together, constitute the complete Agreement.
- Where the Customer elects to manage the Agreement via multiple Lots, the Lot Letting Procedure set out in Clause 84 (Lot Letting Procedure) shall apply.
- 83.4 The timetable for delivery will be agreed with the Contractor and all payments will be based on successful attainment of milestones or completion of stages. Failure on the part of the Contractor to meet these milestones will incur penalties. The penalties that apply are outlined in Schedule 2 (Payment Schedule), relevant Lot Agreement(s) and Service Level Agreement(s).
- 83.5 The Solution provided must meet or exceed all quality and performance criteria defined in the Requirements and Specifications (Schedule 1), Service Level Agreement (Schedule 3) and the relevant Lot Agreement(s).

### 84. **Lot Letting Procedure**

- 84.1 The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Customer reserves the right to have the Agreement delivered in a number of separate lots, or work packages ("Lots") under the procedure set out in Clause 84.2 below (the "Lot Letting Procedure"). Where this applies, in addition to the terms of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the Solution in accordance with a Lot Agreement (the "Lot Agreement") in the form or substantially the form set out at Schedule 7 (Lot Agreement).
- 84.2 The Lot Letting Procedure shall comprise the following steps:
  - (a) The Customer shall issue a "**Lot Request**" to the Contractor in the form or substantially in the form as set out in Schedule 7 (Lot Agreement).
  - (b) The Contractor shall have no less than five (5) and not more than thirty (30) days to respond to a Lot Request (a "Lot Request Response").
  - (c) The Customer shall notify the Contractor within ten (10) days of receipt of the Lot Request Response whether or not its proposal:

- (i) is accepted;
- (ii) requires further information for consideration by the Customer; or
- (iii) is rejected.
- (d) In the event that the Customer notifies the Contractor that the Lot Request Response is accepted, the Lot Request Response shall thereupon be deemed to constitute a Lot Agreement setting out the agreed and binding terms and conditions applying to the relevant Lot to be delivered. The Contractor shall commence implementing the Lot set out in the Lot Agreement within five days of notification of the acceptance of the Lot Request Response and complete it in accordance with the terms of the Lot Agreement and this Agreement and within the Timetable set out therein.
- (e) In the event that further information is required following receipt of a Lot Request Response, the Contractor shall supply such information to the Customer within a further period of ten (10) days. Within ten (10) days following receipt of the required additional information, the Customer shall confirm whether the amended Lot Request Response is approved in which case Clause 84.2(d) above shall apply (as if reference to the Lot Request Response was a reference to it as amended) or is rejected in which case Clause 84.2(f) shall apply.
- (f) In the event that the Customer rejects a Lot Request Response or an amended Lot Request Response (following a request for further information), the Contractor shall not deliver the Lot that was the subject of the Lot Request and the Customer shall reserve its rights to separately procure performance of that Lot.
- 84.3 Nothing in this Agreement shall compel the Customer to enter into any Lot Agreement with the Contractor.

### 85. **Project Management**

Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Customer, the Contractor will be required to manage all development activity in accordance with the principles of Prince2 Project Management Methodology.

### 86. Management of Issues and Risks

The Contractor shall be required to maintain an issues and risks register throughout the Term. All issues and risks encountered during the provision of the Solution must be recorded on the register and actively managed by the Contractor. Key issues and risks must be highlighted to the Customer. The Customer shall be provided with access to the register.

### 87. **Status Reporting**

- 87.1 The Contractor shall submit to the Customer's Representative the reports required by the Requirements and Specifications in such numbers and at such times as provided therein (the "**Required Reports**"). The form of the Required Reports will be agreed with the Customer's Representative.
- 87.2 Such Required Reports may include, for example:

Type of Report	Frequency	Producer
Regular (Weekly/Monthly) Status Report	Weekly	Contractor
(reporting key information weekly)		
Service Quality Report	Monthly	Contractor
(reporting against SLAs)		
Manpower Utilisation / Budget Report	Monthly	Contractor
(reports actual costs against budgeted)		
KPI Performance Report	Quarterly	Contractor
(reports the performance against KPIs for		
account management review)		
End of Lot Report	End of Lot	Contractor

### 88. **Performance Monitoring**

- 88.1 The Contractor shall maintain systems, procedures and controls which reflect the best practices of accountability in expending public funds, and will fully co-operate with the Customer in any reviews of such practices required by the Customer.
- 88.2 The Customer shall be entitled to inspect and review the performance and provision of the Solution by the Contractor and may arrange for an independent party to inspect and review the same throughout the Term.
- 88.3 The Customer's Representative may visit the Contractor's premises on reasonable written notice to review quality management processes and/or inspect the provision of the Solution. Such audits and inspection shall include, inter alia, the inspection, monitoring and assessment of the Contractor's premises, facilities, Contractor's People, records, equipment and procedures. The Contractor shall give all such assistance and provide all such facilities as the Customer's Representative may reasonably require for such audit or inspection.
- 88.4 To the extent applicable, specific requirements in relation to performance targets or measures relating to the Solution will be set out in the Requirements and Specifications, Service Level Agreement(s) and relevant Lot Agreement(s).

### 89. Representatives and Contract Management Review

- 89.1 Governance arrangements must be established to provide the level of project assurance required by the Customer. At a minimum, the Contractor shall assign a Project Manager for the duration of the engagement to ensure that the Solution is delivered on schedule, on budget and to the quality standards defined and expected. The Project Manager will also be responsible for status reporting.
- 89.2 The Contractor and the Customer shall also each designate in writing one (1) individual to serve as its "**Representative**". The Representative shall have authority to issue, execute, grant or provide any approvals, requests, notices or other communications required hereunder or requested by the other Party.

- 89.3 "Review Meetings" will be held at regular intervals, in relation to matters affecting the provision of the Solution. Each Parties' Representative, as well as appropriate additional personnel, shall meet at a location designated by the Customer to discuss the progress made by the Customer and the Contractor in the performance of their respective obligations hereunder during the preceding agreed period.
- 89.4 Not less than five (5) Working Days prior to a Review Meeting, the Contractor shall provide a progress report to the Customer (in a form agreed between the Parties) in respect of the progress since the previous Review Meeting. This progress report will include:
  - (a) A summary of progress since the previous Review Meeting
  - (b) A summary of any instances of non-compliance with this Agreement;
  - (c) A summary of issues and risks raised, resolved and outstanding;
  - (d) Any issues and items for consideration under the Change Control Procedure;
  - (e) Any expected or likely failures to comply with the Service Levels (where applicable);
  - (f) Issues in relation to the management of the Contractor's People;
  - (g) A summary of monies received by the Contractor and invoices outstanding;
  - (h) Written details of any issues with the Solution or Service;
  - (i) Any anticipated potential delays or any overruns in the implementation plan; and
  - (j) Any other matters that the Customer may reasonably request.
- 89.5 Discussions at Review Meetings shall include reviewing:
  - (a) the previous Review Meeting minutes (and approving them);
  - (b) the progress report in respect of the preceding period;
  - (c) compliance with this Agreement generally;
  - (d) if applicable, service delivery issues, including compliance with Service Levels and achieving key performance targets;
  - (e) the issues and risks register and discussing proposed solutions for items not yet resolved, contained or mitigated;
  - (f) issues and risks associated with this Agreement and raised by either Party and discussing proposed solutions for them;
  - (g) any issues for consideration under the Change Control Procedure.
- 89.6 At each Review Meeting, the Parties' Representatives shall agree the minutes of the immediately preceding Review Meeting, which shall be prepared by the Customer and signed by both Parties' Representatives.

- 89.7 Within thirty (30) Working Days of the Effective Date a "**Review Board**" shall be established by the Parties, which shall typically consist of the following persons:
  - (a) The Customer Project Sponsor/Project Executive/Senior Responsible Owner (as each party is identified to the Contractor by the Customer);
  - (b) The Contractor Representative with overall responsibility for delivery of the Solution:
  - (c) Contractor Project Manager;
  - (d) Customer Project Manager; and
  - (e) other nominated and agreed personnel.
- 89.8 The Customer and the Contractor shall each be entitled to change any of its nominated Representatives on the Review Board with suitably senior and experienced replacements, by giving not less than fifteen (15) Working Days written notice of such change to the other Party, as soon as reasonably practicable and, in any event, prior to any meeting of the Review Board. The replacement nominated Representative shall be reasonably acceptable to the other Party, who shall communicate any concerns in relation to the replacement nominated Representative within ten (10) Working Days of receipt of notice, which concerns shall be discussed between the Parties in good faith. The Parties recognise the mutual benefit of maintaining nominated Representatives agreeable to the other Party.
- 89.9 The Customer and the Contractor shall use their reasonable endeavours to ensure that:
  - (a) persons suitably qualified to consider the matters on any agenda circulated, as set out below, attend the relevant Review Board meetings;
  - (b) meetings of the Review Board shall be held at regular intervals;
  - (c) unless agreed to the contrary by the Customer, the Review Board meetings shall be held at Customer Sites, during normal business hours;
  - (d) an agenda of any proposed Review Board meeting shall be prepared by the Contractor in consultation with the Customer and circulated in sufficient time prior to any meeting to enable all Review Board members to attend the meeting well prepared. The agenda may include matters such as those referred to in Clause 89.5 above and such other relevant matter appropriate to raise and discuss at Review Board level.
- 89.10 The Review Board shall discuss the matters referred to in the agenda and such other relevant matters to the ongoing performance and operation of this Agreement as is necessary or appropriate.
- 89.11 Minutes of Review Board meetings shall be prepared by the Contractor and a report (based on the minutes) shall be prepared by the Contractor (the "Review Board Report") and circulated to the Review Board not more than five (5) Working Days following a Review Board meeting, setting out in detail all matters discussed by the Review Board at any relevant meeting and, in particular, indicating any matters which have been discussed and agreed and/or disagreed. Should any matter not be agreed, the Review Board Report should indicate what steps the Review Board propose to take to settle the relevant matter, including whether the recommendation

- of the Review Board is that the matter should be referred to the Dispute Resolution Procedure for resolution.
- 89.12 Following the circulation of the Review Board Report, and subject to any agreed changes to it, the relevant Report will be approved by the Parties, which shall then be deemed to be an authoritative record of the matters discussed and agreed. The Contractor shall at all times act reasonably and in good faith in agreeing the minutes and Review Board Report.
- 89.13 In the event that either Party requires ad-hoc meetings (either Review Meetings or Review Board meetings) with the other Party or third parties to discuss particular aspects of the performance of its contractual obligations, it shall provide the other Party with not less than five (5) Working Days' notice of such request.

### 90. Contractor's People

- 90.1 The Contractor shall ensure that its People, Officers, Sub-contractors and Assignees (which includes Key Personnel):
  - (a) are suitably qualified and experienced and of an appropriate number to perform the Agreement;
  - (b) endeavour to cause as little disruption to employees or business of the Customer at any of its Sites; and
  - (c) comply with the terms of this Agreement.
- 90.2 The Contractor shall ensure that each of the Key Personnel are available to assist in performing the Agreement in their respective roles.
- 90.3 In the event that any such Key Personnel become unavailable, for whatever reason, the Contractor shall use its reasonable endeavours to replace the Key Personnel with persons who are no less experienced and qualified to assist in the performance of the Agreement as the original Key Personnel, and shall request the Customer's prior consent to such replacement.
- 90.4 The Customer may reasonably object (whether in writing or at a Review Meeting) to the continued allocation of certain named personnel to the provision of the Solution, which objection shall be made in good faith and for service delivery and/or performance related reasons, which shall not be frivolous or vexatious. Following receipt of the Customer objection, the Parties shall discuss in good faith the reallocation of the Contractor resources in order to accommodate the Customer objection.
- 90.5 The Contractor shall promptly, following such good faith discussions, replace such personnel with another individual of no less ability, training and qualifications, to whom the Customer has agreed (such agreement not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) prior to their commencing work.
- 90.6 The Contractor shall be solely responsible for ensuring, in so far as reasonably possible, a continuity of Contractor resources allocated to the performance of the Agreement.
- 90.7 The Contractor shall use its commercially reasonable endeavours to minimise turnover in the Contractor's People, subject to the normal promotions, demotions, discipline procedures and other employment procedures operated by a Party.

- 90.8 The Contractor shall be solely responsible for:
  - (a) paying all salaries, wages, benefits and other compensation that the Contractor's People or other employees of the Contractor, may be entitled to receive in connection with the performance of the Agreement.
  - (b) fully complying with all relevant Legal Requirements relating to employment and health and safety at work and such other rules (including Customer Policies) governing the conduct of Contractor's People as have been notified to the Contractor by the Customer in writing.
- 90.9 The Contractor shall keep proper records (including time sheets) showing the time worked by Contractor's People. Other than in the case of a fixed price contract, the Contractor shall make these records available for inspection and copying by the Customer upon receipt of a request to do so by the Customer.
- 90.10 Each Party will be responsible for the supervision, direction and control of its own personnel in relation to this Agreement. The Contractor, as employer of the Contractor's People shall assume full responsibility and liability for the actions of the Contractor's People.
- 90.11 The Parties agree that the 2003 TUPE Regulations do not apply to the performance of the Agreement and no employees or any other persons shall transfer to the Customer on entry into, termination or expiration of this Agreement howsoever or whenever arising.
- 90.12 If, notwithstanding Clause 90.11 above, the 2003 TUPE Regulations do apply to the transfer of employment as between the Contractor and the Customer (arising as a result of the entry into or the termination of this Agreement) the Contractor shall indemnify and keep indemnified the Customer against any and all reasonable costs, claims, losses, liabilities and expenses which the Customer may incur arising out of or in connection with the employment or termination of employment of any staff member the subject of the 2003 TUPE Regulations in connection with the provision of the Solution.

### **PART SEVEN**

#### DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE

This Part Seven applies to the procurement of both Services and Supplies.

### 91. Amicable Dispute Settlement

- 91.1 If any dispute arises between the Parties, the Parties shall first make every effort to settle the dispute amicably as follows:
  - (a) Any dispute is to be notified in writing by a person at senior management level in one Party to a person at senior management level in the other Party;
  - (b) The senior parties will have six (6) days in which to resolve the dispute.
- 91.2 The Parties agree that they shall bear their own costs in the procedure set out in this Clause 91.

#### 92. **Mediation**

- 92.1 If a dispute is not resolved under the amicable dispute settlement (above), then save in respect of a dispute referred to by agreement to the Expert under Clause 92.6 below, the Parties shall follow the Dispute Resolution Procedures set out in this Clause 92.
- Any Party shall give to the other Parties a written notice of the dispute or difference (a "**Dispute Notice**"), setting out its nature and such particulars as shall be then available to that Party. Within ten (10) Working Days of a Dispute Notice being deemed to have been duly served in accordance with Clause 36 (Notices and Communications) all the Parties shall consult and negotiate with each other and, recognising their mutual interests, shall attempt to reach a binding settlement in writing satisfactory to all the Parties.
- 92.3 If all the Parties do not reach a binding settlement in writing within a period of ten (10) Working Days (the "Negotiating Period") of the date on which the Dispute Notice shall be deemed to have been duly served in accordance with Clause 36 (Notices and Communications), then any Party may, by a further written notice served on all the other Parties in accordance with Clause 36 (Notices and Communications), within a further period of ten (10) Working Days commencing on the Working Day following the expiry of the Negotiating Period, request mediation of the dispute or difference.
- 92.4 Unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Parties:
  - (a) The mediator shall be nominated at the request of either Party by the International Centre for Dispute Resolution (the "ICDR") in accordance with the rules of ICDR and the mediation shall be conducted in accordance with the international mediation rules of the ICDR, in each case being the relevant rules for the time being and from time to time in force;
  - (b) The costs of the mediator shall be borne and discharged as to 50% by the Contractor and as to the remaining 50% by the Customer, and the costs of all experts and any other third parties who, at the request of any Party, shall have been instructed in the mediation, shall be for the sole account of, and shall be discharged by, that Party;
  - (c) The mediation shall be conducted in Dublin, Ireland, at a venue agreed upon by the Parties and the mediator or, failing such agreement, at a venue selected by the mediator in his discretion;
  - (d) The mediation shall commence not later than twenty (20) Working Days following a request for mediation being made in accordance with the provisions of Clause 92.3 above;
  - (e) Decisions of the mediator shall in the absence of manifest error, be final and binding and not subject to appeal.

#### 92.5 In the event that:

(a) Mediation is not requested within the period of ten (10) Working Days commencing on the Working Day following the expiry of the Negotiating Period:

- (b) Having been so requested, the mediation does not take place within twenty (20) Working Days of the request for mediation;
- (c) A binding settlement in writing is not reached within ten (10) Working Days after commencement of the mediation.

And, in any such case, the dispute or difference referred to in Clause 92.1 remains unresolved, the provisions of Clause 93 (Arbitration) shall apply as regards any such unresolved dispute or difference.

92.6

- (a) If a dispute or difference arises between the Parties that is not of a material technical nature nor relating to a material financial matter, the Parties may refer such dispute, by agreement in writing between the Parties, for final determination to the Expert (as hereinafter defined).
- (b) The expert for the purposes of this Clause 92 shall be an independent Party who has expertise in the area giving rise to the dispute (the "**Expert**") appointed by agreement by the Parties or, in default of agreement on such appointment, on the application of either Party, by the President for the time being of the Law Society of Ireland or his duly appointed deputy, who shall carry out his functions in accordance with the following:
  - (i) in making a determination, the Expert shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator and his decision shall (in the absence of manifest error (and the Expert shall give reasons for his determination)) be final and binding on the Parties;
  - (ii) the Expert shall afford both Parties a reasonable opportunity to be heard and to state their respective cases and to advance arguments or evidence in support of their respective positions;
  - (iii) each Party shall bear the costs and expenses of all counsel and other advisers, witnesses and employees retained by it and the costs and expenses of the Expert shall be borne by the Parties in the proportions the Expert may direct or, in the absence of direction, equally;
  - (iv) subject to any rule of law or of any regulatory body or any provision of any contract or arrangement entered into prior to the date of this agreement to the contrary the Parties shall afford as soon as reasonably practicable upon request to the other and their respective agents and to the Expert all facilities and access to their respective premises, personal papers, books, accounts, records, returns and other documents as may be in their respective possession or under their respective control as may be required by the Expert to make his determination as soon as possible following his appointment;
  - (v) work and activity to be carried out under this Agreement shall not cease or be delayed by this Dispute Resolution Procedure; and
  - (vi) the Parties and the Expert shall treat as confidential all information obtained in relation to the reference to the Expert, the fact that a dispute has been referred to the Expert, its occurrence and the decision of the Expert arising therefrom.

#### 93. **Arbitration**

- 93.1 Any dispute that is referred to in this Clause 93 shall be finally settled by arbitration in accordance with the UNCITRAL Model Law as provided for in the Arbitration (International Commercial) Act 2010.
- 93.2 For purposes of those rules, the person or body to appoint the arbitrator, if not agreed by the Parties, is the ICDR.

### 94. **Jurisdiction**

Subject to the above provisions of Clause 91 (Amicable Dispute Settlement), Clause 92 (Mediation) and Clause 93 (Arbitration), the Parties submit to the jurisdiction of the Irish courts to settle any dispute that may arise out of or in connection with the Agreement.

### 95. **Agent for Service**

If the Contractor has notified the Customer of an agent for service of legal proceedings on the Contractor, the Contractor confirms to the Customer that it has irrevocably appointed that person as its agent for the service of all documents relating to legal proceedings, and that failure of the agent to notify the Contractor of receipt of a document will not invalidate any proceedings or the service of the document.

### 96. Obligations to continue during a Dispute

Despite the existence of a dispute, the Parties shall continue to perform their obligations under the Agreement in good faith.

### 97. **Confidentiality**

The Parties and mediator or arbitrator shall treat as confidential all information obtained in relation to the reference to the mediator or arbitrator, the fact that a dispute has been referred to the mediator or arbitrator, its occurrences and the decision of the mediator or arbitrator arising therefrom.

# **IN WITNESS WHEREOF** this Agreement is executed by the parties as follows:

Signed by for and on behalf of the <b>HEALTH SERVICE</b>			
	Title (e.g. GM Finance)		Date
	Title (e.g. GM Finance)		Date
	Title (e.g. GM Finance)	Signature	Date
Name (printed)	Title (e.g. GM Finance)	Signature	Date
Signed by for and on behalf of [SUPPLIER NAME]:			
Name (printed)	Title (e.g. GM Finance)	Signature	Date
Name (printed)	Title (e.g. GM Finance)	Signature	Date

## SCHEDULE 1

# REQUIREMENTS AND SPECIFICATIONS

[To be inserted]

## PAYMENT SCHEDULE

# SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT

# **CONTRACTOR'S TENDER**

#### CHANGE CONTROL PROCEDURES

#### 1. **Principles**

- (a) Where the Customer or the Contractor see a need to change the Agreement, a Lot Agreement, or any deliverable provided thereunder, the Customer may at any time request, and the Contractor may at any time recommend, such change only in accordance with the Change Control Procedure as set out at paragraph 2 below.
- (b) Neither the Customer nor the Contractor shall unreasonably withhold its agreement to any change.
- (c) Until such time as a change is made in accordance with the Change Control Procedure, the Contractor shall, unless otherwise agreed in writing, continue to perform its obligations under the Agreement and supply the services thereunder as if the request or recommendation had not been made.
- (d) Any discussions which may take place between the Customer and the Contractor in connection with a request or recommendation before the authorisation of a resultant change shall be without prejudice to the rights of either Party.
- (e) Any work undertaken by the Contractor, its sub-contractors or agents which has not been authorised in advance by a change and which has not been otherwise agreed in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 1(c) above shall be undertaken entirely at the expense and liability of the Contractor.

#### 2. **Procedures**

- (a) Discussion between the Customer and the Contractor concerning a change shall result in any one of the following:
  - (i) no further action being taken;
  - (ii) a request to change by the Customer; or
  - (iii) a recommendation to change by the Contractor.
- (b) Where a written request for an amendment is received from the Customer, the Contractor shall, unless otherwise agreed, submit two copies of a change control note ("CCN") signed by the Contractor to the Customer within three weeks of the date of the request.
- (c) A recommendation to amend by the Contractor shall be submitted direct to the Customer in the form of two copies of a CCN signed by the Contractor at the time of such recommendation.
- (d) Each CCN shall contain:
  - (i) the title of the change;
  - (ii) the originator and date of the request or recommendation for the change;
  - (iii) the reason for the change;
  - (iv) full details of the change including any specification;

- (v) the price, if any, of the change;
- (vi) a timetable for implementation together with any proposals for acceptance of the change;
- (vii) a schedule of payments if appropriate;
- (viii) details of the likely impact, if any, of the change on other aspects of the Agreement and/or services including to:
  - (A) the Term of the Agreement;
  - (B) the personnel to be provided;
  - (C) the Price and payment profile;
  - (D) the Timetable;
  - (E) the documentation to be provided;
  - (F) the training to be provided;
  - (G) the service levels;
  - (H) working arrangements;
  - (I) other Agreement issues;
  - (J) the date of expiry of validity of the CCN; and
  - (K) provision for signature by the Customer and by the Contractor.
- (e) For each CCN submitted, the Customer shall, within the period of the validity of the CCN, do the following (in the event that no period of validity is specified the CCN it shall lapse unless accepted in writing by the Customer within fourteen (14) days or receipt):
  - (i) allocate a sequential number to the CCN;
  - (ii) evaluate the CCN and, as appropriate:
    - (A) request further information;
    - (B) arrange for two copies of the CCN to be signed by or on behalf of the Customer and return one of the copies to the Contractor; or
    - (C) notify the Contractor of the rejection of the CCN.

## FORM OF CHANGE CONTROL NOTE

RELEVANT

Title or Ref. No.:

Date:

**AGREEMENT** number

AGREEMENT/LOT

#### **BY AND BETWEEN**

THE HEALTH SERVICE EXECUTIVE;

CHANGE CONTROL NOTICE DETAILS

AND

Date:

Reference No.:

• Limited, registered in •, number •, whose registered office is at • (the "Contractor").

Raised by:				
Reason for the	e change:			
Description of	f the change:			
Timetable for	the change & commencement date:	:		
Price:				
Impact on oth	er work under the Agreement:			
Impact on the time scales under the Agreement:				
out above. Sav	reby agree to change the Agreement e as expressly set out in this Chan Il remain in full force and effect.			
AGREED FO	R AND ON BEHALF OF ACTOR		OR AND ON BEHALF OF THI ERVICE EXECUTIVE	
Signed:		Signed:		
Title:		Title:		
Date:		Date:		

# $TIMETABLE^1\\$

[To be inserted]

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Timetable shall include high level details of stages/Milestones for the Term of the Agreement. Further details may be set out in a Service Level Agreement and Lot Agreement.

## LOT AGREEMENT

FORM	OF LOT AGREEMENT
THIS L	OT AGREEMENT is dated the day of 2012
MADE	BY THE [HEALTH SERVICE DIRECTORATE] ON [ ● ]
AND	
• Limit	ed, registered in ●, number ●, whose registered office is at ● (the "Contractor").
WHER	EAS:
	The Parties have concluded an agreement, dated the ● day of ● 2012, and entitled ● cal Maintenance and Support Agreement] (the "Agreement");
Lot Req Agreem	On [ $ \bullet $ ] the Customer issued a Lot Request to the Contractor. The Contractor submitted its quest Response on [ $ \bullet $ ]. The Customer accepted the Lot Request Response on [ $ \bullet $ ]. This ent sets out the terms and conditions to apply to the relevant Requirements and Specifications elivered under this lot.
and the	THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED THAT the Contractor shall supply and provide, Customer shall purchase, the products and services as described in the Requirements and rations set out in this Lot Agreement and the ancillary document attached hereto:
1.	REQUEST FOR SPECIFICATION
	The Customer requested the Contractor to submit its response to the following Requirement and Specification:
	LOT REQUEST
	Details of Lot request made by Customer to the Contractor to be inserted here
2.	AGREEMENT REFERENCE NUMBER
3.	Customer PO NO

# 4. **LOT REQUEST RESPONSE**

Details of the relevant Requirements and Specifications to be performed by the Contractor and relevant payment terms are set out below:

#### 5. REQUIREMENTS AND SPECIFICATIONS

Service Specification	Details of Professional Services to be provided by Contractor to be inserted here
Software Specification	Details of Software Specification to be provided by Contractor to be inserted here

### 6. PROFESSIONAL SERVICES – Organisation and Staffing

Details of named resources and skills to be supplied inserted here

Customer Named Resources to be inserted here

#### 7. PRICE AND PAYMENT TERMS

- 7.1 Price and Payment Terms must outline charges and payments for the following, preferably in a Tabular format
- 7.2 Professional Services, including Software Development and Configuration Services daily rates:
- 7.3 Support and Maintenance Services daily rates:

# 8. CUSTOMER EXPENSES POLICY – AGREEMENT ON PER DIEMS AND OTHER EXPENSES TO BE CLARIFIED HERE

## 9. **TIMETABLE**

- 9.1 The Timetable for completion of the Requirements and Specifications under the Lot Agreement is set out below:
- 9.2 This Lot Agreement shall commence on the date of execution by both Parties. It is expected that completion will occur by [insert date] or as otherwise agreed between the Parties in writing.
- 9.3 [Contractor to insert Project Timetable, with Milestones]

#### 10. WARRANTY (SCOPE AND DURATION)

Services	
----------	--

#### 11. ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS

Implementation Plan	Yes/No - Refer to document, including reference number
Other	Yes/No - Refer to document, including reference number

#### 12. CUSTOMER SITES TO WHICH SOFTWARE / SERVICES TO BE SUPPLIED

12.1 [ • ]

## 13. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS APPLY

Please tick as appropriate

Yes	If yes, please insert details below. Please also refer to Intellectual Property Rights Schedule attached to the Letting Request.
No	

Deliverables	Party in whom IPR Vests
Configuration	THE HEALTH SERVICE EXECUTIVE
Other Deliverables	

#### 14. SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT

To the extent that this Lot Agreement relates to the provision of Services as part of the solution, a Service Level Agreement will apply in the form or substantially the form as set out at Schedule 3 (Service Level Agreement) to the Agreement and this Lot Agreement is to be read in conjunction with the Service Level Agreement.

# 15. ASSUMPTIONS – DETAIL ANY FURTHER ASSUMPTIONS NOT COVERED IN PREVIOUS SECTIONS

# ACCEPTANCE PROCEDURES

# TERMINATION ASSISTANCE